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ABSTRACT

On December 3, 1861, President Abraham Lincoln 
delivered his first annual message to Congress. Included 
as one of the topics for Congressional consideration was 
Negro colonization outside the United States. This pro­
posal was incorporated into a bill passed April 16, 1862, 
freeing slaves in the District of Columbia and providing 
an appropriation of $100,000 for colonization. Authority 
for execution was lodged with the Department of the In­
terior and a Commissioner of Emigration and Colonization 
to be appointed by the President.

Although several colonization schemes were proposed, 
only two were contracted - one in New Granada and the other 
in Hayti. Only the Haytian contract was executed. Thus 
lie A'Vache, Hayti became the United States* sole experiment 
in resettling freed slaves outside the United States.

Lincoln's role in initiating colonization as gov­
ernmental policy and the attempt to implement this policy 
on lie A*Vache are the major interests of this paper.



ABRAHAM LINCOLN AND NEGRO COLONIZATION 
THE ILE A'VACHE, HAYTI EXPERIENCE, 
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CHAPTER I
LINCOLN AND NEGRO COLONIZATION

•.. and that the effort to colonize persons of African 
descent, with their consent, upon this continent, or 
elsewhere, with previously obtained consent of the 
Governments existing there will be continued.1

For decades preceding the Civil War, Negro coloniza­
tion had both black and white advocates. As early as 1776 
Thomas Jefferson advocated a plan for colonization. Before 
the 1850's the principal reasons for black interest in emi­
gration seem to have been for personal safety, better eco­
nomic opportunities, and equality of citizenship. After the 
1850's, spurred by abolitionist sentiment, a degree of Negro

3nationalism accounted for some emigration schemes. Removal 
of blacks to Liberia or some other country appealed to the 
- humanitarian as well as the white suprematist. Such a col­
ony would provide an industrious community where a free man

1Abraham Lincoln, "Preliminary Emancipation Procla­
mation, " September 22, 1862, in Roy P. Basler (ed.), The 
Works of Abraham Lincoln (New Brunswick: Rutgers University
Press, 1953-55), V, 534. Hereafter cited as Works.

2 “' . . .Thomas Jefferson, Notes on Virginia, edited by
William Peden (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina
Press, 1954), 144.

3 . ■ .H. H. Bell, "Negro Nationalism: A Factor m  Emi­
gration Projects, 1858-1861," Journal of Negro History, 
XLVII, no. 1 (vlanuary 1962), 42. Hereafter cited as "Negro 
Nationalism."

2



could take his place among his equals. For those who feared 
the day when emancipation might flood the country with 
Negroes seeking employment and social equality, colonization 
was often regarded favorably. Indeed, colonization was the 
only attempt to deal with slavery which took cognizance of 
racial prejudices in the United States.

In response to varied reasons, the American Coloni­
zation Society was formed in 1816. This society stated that
its exclusive purpose was the colonization of free persons 

4of color. In actuality its activities were primarily lim­
ited to settlement in Liberia of Africans taken from cap­
tured slave ships. Despite its proposed intent, few freed-

5men m  the United States emigrated to Liberia. Interest m  
colonization waned in the 1840’s and early 1850's but with 
the approach of the Civil War once again became an issue 
debated by leading statesmen.

One of these men, Abraham Lincoln, was to have a 
profound effect on the institution of slavery. Throughout 
his political career, as he moved closer and closer to the 
idea of emancipation, Lincoln referred to colonization or 
resettlement as a measure necessary to accompany emancipa­
tion. Although he believed in the destruction of slavery,

4William Jay, Miscellaneous Writings on Slavery 
(Boston: Jewett, 1853), 7.

5 . . .P. J. Staudenraus, African Colonization Movement,
1816-1865 (New York: Columbia University Press, 1961),
passim.



he desired separation of the races.^
One of the first references to expatriation made by

Lincoln was in a eulogy to Henry Glay in 1852. Clay was in
favor of gradual emancipation and was a promoter of the
American Colonization Society. "He did not perceive, as I
think no wise man has perceived, how it could be at once
eradicated, without producing a greater evil, even to the

7cause of human liberty itself." In referring to Clay's 
activities in the American Colonization Society, Lincoln 
wrote, "Every succeeding year has added strength to the hope

oof its_realization. May it indeed be realized!"
Throughout his pre-presidential career, Lincoln

spoke out in varying degrees against slavery and in favor of
deportation. In 18 54 he said

My first impulse would be to free all the slaves, and 
send them to liberia - to their own native land ... 
but its sudden execution is impossible. Free them 
all, and keep them among us as underlings? Is it quite 
certain that this betters their condition? Free them, 
and make them politically and socially our equals? My 
own feelings will not admit of this; and if mine would, 
we well know that those of the great mass of white 
people will not ... it does seem to me that systems of

6John G. Nicolay and John Hay, Abraham Lincoln, A 
History (10 vols. New York: Century, 189 0) VI~r 356 .
Hereafter cited as Abraham Lincoln. Jacque Voegeli, Free 
But Not Equal (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1967) ,
97. C. H. Wesley, "Lincoln's Plan for Colonizing the Eman­
cipated Negro," Journal of Negro History, IV, no. 1 (January 
1919),7.

7Address of Abraham Lincoln, "Eulogy on Henry Clay," 
Springfield, Illinois, July 6, 1852, in Works, II, 130.

8Ibid., 132.



9gradual emancipation might be adopted.
Continuing this thought in 1857 he wrote

Such separation, if ever effected at all, must be 
effected by colonization; and no political party, as 
such, is doing anything directly for colonization.
Party operations at present only favor or retard col­
onization incidentally. The enterprise is a difficult 
one; but when there is a will there is a way; and what 
colonization needs most is a hearty will ... we shall 
find a way to do it, however great the task may be.10

It was the next year, in a series of debates with 
Stephen A. Douglas that Lincoln took a moral position on 
slavery to contrast sharply with Douglas' seeming indiffer­
ence. Turmoil in Kansas and the Dred Scott decision had 
made slavery an important issue in the senatorial race 
between Lincoln and Douglas. Before the actual debates 
began, Douglas contended that the Founding Fathers had not 
intended to include Negroes and that to do so would open the 
door on social as well as political equality. Lincoln 
responded by saying

Now I protest against that counterfeit logic which con­
cludes that, because I do not want a black woman for a 
slave I must necessarily want her for a wife. I need 
not have her for either, I can just leave her alone.
In some respects she certainly is not my equal; but in 
her natural right to eat the bread she earns with her 
own hands without asking leave of anyone else, she is 
my equal, and the equal of all others.H

9 .Address of Abraham Lincoln at Peoria, Illinois,
October 16, 1854, in Works, II, 256.

"^Address of Abraham Lincoln at Springfield, 
Illinois, June 26, 1857, ibid., 409.

1!LIbid. , 405.



6

Repeated in varying degrees, the above became one of 
the cornerstones of the Republican campaign in the ensuing 
series of debates. Lincoln1s. attitude toward the Negro was 
essentially shared by Douglas. The major difference was 
that Lincoln admitted slavery to be a moral inequity, while 
Douglas saw the Negro's inferior status as natural and 
unchangeable. Pronouncements of Lincoln show the limita­
tions of the moral principle of the Republican Party: a
sense of outrage at slavery tempered by a belief in white 
supremacy. It has been shown that on the eve of the Civil 
War "the great majority of Americans believed in the innate
superiority of the Caucasian race and were determined to

12maintain white supremacy."
With the outbreak of war and the imminent possibil­

ity of largescale emancipation, colonization regained some
popularity among those who saw the inevitability of emanci-

13patron but dreaded rts social consequences. Miscegenation
was used as a political scare tactic frequently in Northern

14and Midwestern states. In March, 1862, the Tammany Hall 
Young Men's Democratic Club resolved that "we are opposed to 
emancipating negro slaves, unless on some plan of

12Voegeli, Free But Not Equal, 1. See also Eugene 
H. Berwanger, The Frontier Agarnst Slavery (Urbana: Uni­
versity of Illinois Press, 1967), 4, 13.

13James M. McPherson, "Abolrtronist and Negro Oppo­
sition to Colonization During the Civil War," Phylon, XXVI 
(1965), 391. Hereafter cited as "Abolitionist and Negro 
Opposition."

14 .Berwanger, The Frontrer Agarnst Slavery, passrm.



colonization, in order that they may not come in contact
15with the white man's labor." Congressman Albert S. White

summed it up in a report on colonization made that same
year. "Much of the objection to emancipation arises from
the opposition of a large portion of our people to the
intermixture of the races, and from the association of white

16and black labor ... colonization is the answer."
As President, Lincoln had the opportunity to imple­

ment his ideas about slavery and colonization. For the 
first time, colonization was to become an active govern­
mental policy. Lincoln recognized that colonization might 
prove a solution to secession, or at least a way to hold the 
border states. In his first message to Congress, December 3, 
1861, the President recommended that

... in any event, steps be taken for colonizing both 
classes, (or the first mentioned [confiscated property], 
if the other shall not be brought into existence.[freed- 
men]) at some place, or places in a climate congenial to 
them. It might be well to consider, too - whether the 
free colored people already in the United States could 
not, so far as individuals desire, be included in such 
colonization ... On this whole proposition, including 
the appropriation of money with the acquisition of ter­
ritory, does not the expediency amount to absolute 
necessity?17

15McPherson, "Abolitionist and Negro Opposition,"
391.

1 cAlbert S. White, "Report of the Select Committee 
on Emancipation,11 37 Cong., 2 sess., House Reports No. 148, 
IV, 13.

17Abraham Lincoln, "Annual Message to Congress," 
December 3, 1861, in Works, V, 48.



This appeal for colonization was coupled with a plan 
for gradual emancipation compensating those owners whose 
slaves were freed. This plan would serve several purposes. 
Voluntary state action would ward off constitutional ques­
tions and preserve state rights, compensation would appease 
loyal slaveholders, and gradual liberation accompanied by
deportation would soften the social and economic shocks of 

18emancipation. Abolitionists lashed out sharply against 
this message "so thoroughly tinged with that colorphibia 
which has so long prevailed in Illinois." William Lloyd 
Garrison stated in a letter to Charles Sumner that "Presi­
dent Lincoln may colonize himself, if he choose, but it is
an impertinent act, on his part, to propose the getting rid

19of those who are as good as himself."
Congress reacted to the proposal by drafting "an act 

for the release of persons held to service or labor in the 
District of Columbia." This act encompassed both compensa­
tion and colonization. In notifying Congress of the act's 
approval and signature, Lincoln stated that he "was grati­
fied that the two principles of compensation and coloniza­
tion are both recognized and practically applied to the 

20act." An appropriation of $100,000 was provided for

i oVoegeli, Free But Not Equal, 39.
19Quoted in McPherson, "Abolitionist and Negro Oppo­

sition," 393.
20Abraham Lincoln, "Message on the Release of Slaves 

in the District of Columbia," 37 Cong., 2 sess., Senate 
Executive Document No. 42



colonization and resettlement of Negroes freed by the act.
In July another appropriation, this one for $500,000, 

was made to carry out the emancipation of slaves in the Dis­
trict of Columbia and to colonize those freed by a confis- 

21cation bill. Section XII of this Confiscation Act, passed
July 17, 1862, declared

That the President of the United States is hereby autho­
rized to make provisions for the transportation, coloni­
zation, and settlement in some tropical country beyond 
the limits of the United States, of such persons of the 
African race, made free by the provisions of this act, 
as may be willing to emigrate, having first obtained 
the consent of the Government of said country, to their 
protection and settlement within the same, with all the ^rights and privileges of f r e e m e n . 22

In August 1862, Lincoln appointed Rev. James Mitchell, 
an Indiana Democrat, as Commissioner of Emigration and Colo­
nization within the Interior Department. Shortly before his 
December message to Congress, Lincoln had given the Interior 
Department full power to enforce suppression of the slave 
trade. Mitchell came to his position an enthusiastic sup­
porter of colonization but found the office a frustrating 
experience. He had been given no clear cut authority within 
the Department. Indeed, the Congressional appropriations 
for colonization were administered by the Secretary of the
Interior rather than by Mitchell, the Commissioner of Emi-

23gration and Colonization.

£• §.• Statutes at Large, XII, 582.
22Ibid., 592.
23Letter, James Mitchell to Ulyssus S. Grant,

February 16, 1871, Leesburg, Virginia, in Records of the



10
One of Mitchell's first acts as ’Commissioner was to

arrange a meeting of Negro leaders with President Lincoln to
discuss colonization. Rev. Thomas, director of the New York
based Anglo-African Institute for the Encouragement of
Industry and Art, headed the delegation. Lincoln explained
colonization plans then under consideration, arguing that
"your race suffer from living among us, while ours suffer
from your presence ... It is better for us both, therefore,

24to be separated." Replying to the President a few days 
later, Thomas expressed his willingness to work for coloni­
zation although he had previously been hostile to the idea.
Other Negroes, however, violently objected to the Presi-

25dent's ideas of colonization.
Even before this meeting with Negro leaders Lincoln 

had begun to think of emancipation as a military necessity.
An appeal to representatives of the border states to initi-

26ate emancipation within their states had been discouraging.

Office of the Secretary of the Interior Relating to the Sup­
pression of the African Slave Trade and Negro Colonization, 
1854-1872, (10 reels. Washington: National Archives, 1949)
reel 1. Hereafter cited as Slave Trade Collection.

24Address by Abraham Lincoln, August 14, 1862,
Washington, in Works, V, 371.

25Frederick Douglass wrote "In this address Mr.
Lincoln assumes the language and arguments of an itinerant 
Colonization lecturer, showing all his inconsistencies, his 
pride of race and blood, his contempt for negroes and his 
canting hypocrisy." Quoted in McPherson, "Abilitionist and 
Negro Opposition," 395.

2 6Lincoln urged them to accept his proposition say­
ing "I do not speak of emancipation at once, but of a deci­
sion at once to emancipate gradually. Room in South America



Their inaction coupled with pressure from ardent aboli­
tionists and Congress strengthened the argument in favor of 
emancipation on a national level. On July 22 Lincoln pre­
sented to his cabinet a preliminary document proclaiming 
emancipation. Reactions were mixed. Secretary of State, 
William H. Seward counseled against an announcement of eman­
cipation until such time as the military outlook was better. 
Postmaster-General Montgomery Blair favored the inclusion of
colonization while Secretary of the Treasury Salmon P. Chase

27felt the preliminary document too weak. By September 22 
the military situation had improved, the Army of the Potomac 
having forced Lee's troops out of Maryland, and Lincoln 
issued the Preliminary Emancipation Proclamation. Again the 
two principles of compensation and colonization were included 
These two provisions were intended to soften the impact of 
largescale emancipation. Lincoln saw colonization as a 
practical solution to the millions freed by the Emancipation 
Proclamation. Thus the Proclamation would satisfy those who 
wished for emancipation of the Negro as well as those who 
feared that the freed slave would overrun the North.

The final proclamation was not issued until January 1 
1863 after consultation with cabinet members and study of

for colonization, can be obtained cheaply, and in abundance? 
and when numbers shall be large enough ... the freed people 
will not be so reluctant to go." Address of Abraham Lincoln, 
July 12, 1862, Washington, in Works, V, 318.

27Carl Sandberg, Abraham Lincoln: The Prairie Years
and the War Years (New York: Harcourt, Brace, 1954), 582.



their suggested revisions. Secretary of the Navy Gideon
Welles recorded that although there were some differences
in the cabinet, the discussion "on the general principle

2 8involved [was] harmonious." When the Proclamation was 
issued it had been pared down to the single idea of emanci­
pation "as a fit and necessary war measure for suppressing

29said rebellion." Colonization and compensation were not 
included in the final document but had been recommended as 
part of a constitutional amendment proposed in Lincoln’s 
second annual message to Congress, December 1, 1862.

In this message Lincoln reviewed the progress , or
rather the lack of progress, in the field of colonization.

I regret to say such persons [freedmen] contemplating 
colonization do not seem so willing to migrate to those 
countries [Liberia and Hayti] as to some others, nor so 
willing as I think their interest demands. I believe, 
however, opinion among them in this respect is improv­
ing; and that ere long there will be an augmented and 
considerable migration to both these countries [Liberia 
and Hayti] from the United States.30

He then proposed a constitutional amendment embodying the
principles of emancipation, compensation and colonization.

Article -. Every State wherein slavery now exists which 
shall abolish the same therein at any time or times 
before the 1st day of January, A.D. 1900, shall receive 
compensation from the United States ... [there follows a 
formula for rates of compensation]

2 8Gideon Welles, Diary of Gideon Welles (3 vols. 
Boston: Houghton, Mifflin, 1911), I, 143. Hereafter cited
as Diary.

29Abraham Lincoln, "Emancipation Proclamation," 
January 1, 1863, Washington, in Works, VI, 29.

30Abraham Lincoln, "Second Annual Message to Con­
gress," December 1, 1862, Washington, in Works, V, 520.



Article All slaves who shall have enjoyed actual
freedom by the chances of the war at any time before 
the end of the rebellion shall be forever free; but 
all owners of such who shall not have been disloyal 
shall be compensated for them at the same rates as is 
provided for States adopting abolishment of slavery, 
but in such way that no slave shall be twice accounted 
for.
Article -. Congress may appropriate money, and other­
wise provide, for colonizing free colored persons, with 
their own consent, at any place or places without the 
United States.31

In recommending Article 3 of the proposed amendment, Lincoln
said, "I cannot make it better known than it already is,

32that I strongly favour colonization ..."
Bills introduced in Congress to carry his recommen­

dations into effect met resistance. Though one bill passed
the House and another the Senate, the two houses for one

33reason or another never agreed upon a bill.

31Ibid., 530.
32Ibid., 534.
33Congressional Globe, 37 Cong., 3 sess., 6, 76, 92,

138-139.



CHAPTER II 
PROPOSALS TO COLONIZE

Colonization was given more than lip service during
Lincoln's presidency. After his message to Congress in
1861 scores of proposals were submitted on colonization.^*
Out of these only the proposals to colonize in the Chiriqui
provine of present day Panama and on lie A'Vache, Hayti
were seriously considered.

On the same day that Lincoln discussed emancipation
with his cabinet, July 22, 1862, he suggested an executive
order in respect to colonization. Chase recorded in his
diary that the cabinet unanimously agreed that this order

2should be dropped. Later that month, however, a coloniza­
tion plan promoted by Colonel Ambrose W. Thompson was well 
received by Secretary of the Interior Caleb B. Smith. 
Thompson had had a contract with the Buchanan administration 
for coal supplies and a mail route in the Chiriqui region of

^Senate Executive Document 55, 39 Cong., 1 sess.
2David Donald (ed.) , Inside Lincoln1s Cabinet; the 

Civil War Diaries of S_. P. Chase. (New York; Longman's 
Green, 195 4), 9 8-99. Hereafter cited as Inside Lincoln's 
Cabinet.

14



3Panama, He now proposed a colony of freedmen m  Chiriqui 
in accordance with the acts passed by Congress regarding 
colonization. He based the economy of his proposed colony 
on the coal present in that region. Thus his colony, in 
addition to draining off freedmen and contrabands, would 
provide a valuable asset to commercial relations in that
region, he contended.

, Despite Joseph Henry's report on September 5, 1862
that the Chiriqui coal was worthless, a provisional contract

4with Thompson was signed September 11, 1862. Lincoln had 
requested Henry, the first secretary and director of the 
Smithsonian Institute and one of the most eminent American 
scientists of the nineteenth century, to examine samples of 
the Chiriqui coal and submit his opinion. On the day that 
the contract was signed, Smith, on instructions from Presi­
dent Lincoln, requested Senator S. C. Pomeroy of Kansas to 
serve as the government's special agent in the project. 
Pomeroy accepted and went at once to New York to begin pre-

5parations for an expedition to Chiriqui. On September 19, 
however, Luis Molina, Minister to the United States from 
Costa Rica, Nicaragua and Honduras, lodged a note of formal

3Warren A. Beck, Lincoln and the Chiriqui Improve­
ment Company (unpublished Master's thesis. Detroit: Wayne
State University, 1948), 26.

4Contract, Ambrose W. Thompson and the United States 
of America, Washington, September 12, 1862, in Slave Trade 
Collection, reel 1.

5Letter, Caleb B. Smith to S. C. Pomeroy, Washing­
ton, September 12, 1862, ibid.



protest with the Department of State.^
Generally the Central American states were opposed

to the emigration of freedmen to their countries. The most
vociferous objections to being classed with a servile race
came from Negroes in Nicaragua, who considered themselves

7equals of the whites. However, Molina was disturbed that 
the settlement was to be under the protection of another 
government. He expressed the hope that the United States 
would respect the sovereignty and the territories of the 
Spanish American nation. Seward's reply to Molina assured 
him that the colonization scheme would not be executed with­
out the consent of the Central American governments con-

gcerned. Pomeroy was informed of the protest and instructed 
to proceed slowly.

Meanwhile the expedition was beginning to take shape 
Smith telegraphed Pomeroy on September 20, 1862 of Lincoln's 
interest in the expedition. The forthcoming Emancipation 
Proclamation made it desirable for the administration to 
have a practical solution to the problem of caring for the 
millions that might be freed by it. Molina, on September 29 
protested the continued preparations.

^Letter, Luis Molina to William H. Seward, Washing­
ton, September 19, 1862, in Papers Relating to Foreign 
Affairs, 899.

7Andrew N. eleven, "Some Plans for Colonizing Lib­
erated Negro Slaves in Hispanic America," Journal of Negro 
History, XI (1926), 39.

8Letter, William H. Seward to Luis Molina, Washing­
ton, September 21, 1862, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 1.



In Central America, the said enterprise [colonization] 
is looked upon as aggressive, illegal, and of a worse 
character than other former ones of the same kind; that 
it creates a real alarm, and that I had received orders 
to resist it . .♦ I further made it known to him [Secre­
tary of State] the intention which my estimable colleague 
of Guatemala and New Granada had of solemnly protesting, 
representing to him that, in my opinion, it would be more 
conducive to good relations that your government should 
abandon, of its own good will and through respect to the 
rights which are believed to be threatened, an enter­
prise subject to unfavorable interpretations and which 
meets with legitimate resistance.^

This time his protest was heeded and the project was 
temporarily suspended. Lincoln approved the suspension and 
Pomeroy was notified to halt work.^^ Lincoln also asked his 
cabinet for their opinions on the question of colonization 
treaties with European powers and tropical nations. Attor­
ney General Edward Bates felt that colonization projects
should be accompanied by a treaty with the government con- 

11cerned. All the cabinet members with the exceptions of
12Chase and Welles were m  favor of such treaties. However, 

"There was an indisposition to press the subject of Negro 
emigration to Chiriqui at the meeting of the Cabinet against 
the wishes and remonstrances of the states of Central America

9Letter, Smith to Pomeroy, Washington, September 22, 
1862, ibid.

^Letter, Smith to Pomeroy, Washington, September 
22, 1862, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 1.

■^Edward Bates, The Diary of Edward Bates, 1859-1866 
(Howard K. Beale, ed., Annual Report of the American Histori- 
cal Association, vol. IV, 1930), 262. Hereafter cited as 
Diary.

12Donald, Inside Lincoln's Cabinet, 156, 160.
■^Welles, Diary, I, 162.



Following this discussion, Seward issued a letter to 
several American Ministers giving general principles for 
colonization, first of which was recognition by the govern­
ment involved. This letter, written on September 30, 1862, 
was to become the basis for conducting colonization. Seward 
stated that the communication was not "to present the pro­
ject of a convention, but simply to state some of the gen­
eral principles which this government supposes proper to be

14recognized in any treaties ... pertaining to colonization." 
One of these general principles was that all such emigration 
should be free and voluntary. Another required the agents 
of governments desiring to receive such emigrants to be 
recognized by the United States government.

Early in September, a proposal for colonizing 5,000 
freedmen on lie A'Vache, Hayti, had been submitted to the 
Department of the Interior. With the suspension of the 
Central American plans, this proposal was examined more 
closely. The scheme's initiator, Bernard Kock, had arrived 
in Washington late in August and had begun immediately to 
present his plan to the government. First he lodged his 
Haytian contract and supporting documents with the Depart­
ment of State. He was informed by Secretary Seward that the 
Department of State had nothing to do with the matter; that 
it was entirely within the jurisdiction of the Department

14Letter, Seward to Charles F. Adams, Washington, 
September 30, 1862, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



15of the Interior.
During the month of September, Kock's efforts to 

promote his plan proved fruitless. A letter to the Secre­
tary of the Interior drew only a standard reply requesting 
information on the nature of the island and the proposed 
treatment of the colonists. Kock was unknown in Washington 
and Thompson's plan was receiving the full attention of the 
government at the moment. Still no interest was indicated 
after the reception of Kock's answers to Smith's questions. 
Kock then enlisted the aid of J. R. S. Van Vleet, associate
editor of Washington's National Republican and an ardent

16colonizationist, as his agent in Washington. Later in the
month several newspapers reported favorably on Kock's plans
and urged government consideration of them. The Philadelphia
Press, on September 26, 1862, having

been favored with a detailed explanation of the purposes 
intended [stated that] it seems to us that the plan here 
proposed will be a very profitable one to the gentleman 
who has it in charge while, at the same time, it will 
give a home to thousands of our unfortunate people who 
have escaped from slavery, and relieve the government
from a great deal of embarrassment now surrounding this
complicated question.

On September 27, Kock sent the Secretary of the 
Interior a letter from the Surgeon General of Hayti endors­
ing Kock and his enterprise. With Thompson's plans now

15Letter, Bernard Kock to Caleb B. Smith, Washington, 
September 9, 1862, ibid.

1 6Letter, J. R. S. Van Vleet to Lincoln, Washington, 
September 1862, ibid.

17The Philadelphia Press, September 26, 1862, ibid.



under heavy attack by the Central American states, Kock's
letter was received with interest. A few days later, Kock
had printed a letter "To His Excellency, Abraham Lincoln,"
to accompany a request for an interview with the President
and an endorsement from Van Vleet. Kock's letter outlined

18clearly his colonization proposals.
Early in August 1862, Kock had signed a contract 

with the Republic of Hayti. This contract gave him rights 
to lie A'Vache, an island twelve miles off the shore of the 
mainland.

It covers an area of about a hundred square miles, is 
known to be free from reptiles, and to have a healthy 
and agreeable temperature, the thermometer rising rarely 
above 80 in the shade, in consequence of its exposure to 
the trade winds. The interior of the island is hilly, 
in some places rising as high as three hundred feet 
above the level of the sea. It is well timbered with 
mahogany, oak, hard, and dye-woods, while in the neigh­
borhood of the coast it is mostly prairie land, and 
ready for the plough. As would be expected in a country 
like this, the soil and climate are adapted for all 
tropical productions, particularly sugar, coffee, indigo, 
and more especially, cotton, which is indigenous. Upon 
the north side of the island is the beautiful Bay of 
Ferret, with the average depth of twenty-eight feet, 
upon whose bosom a large fleet could repose in safety, 
secure from the storms of the ocean; and here it is pro­
posed to erect a commercial city, with all conveniences 
necessary to s u c h . 19

Kock explained that his original intention had been 
to employ German and Swiss to cultivate cotton on his plan­
tations but after learning of the "humane need for American 
Negro colonization," he now proposed to utilize contrabands.

18Letter, Kock to Lincoln, Washington, October 1, 
1862, ibid.

19Ibid.



Kock depended for success, not on the hardwood forests as
specified in his contract, but on the cultivation of cotton,
which at that time commanded top prices because of the
Southern blockade. To take full advantage of the weather,
Kock hoped to leave by the last of October with at least a
thousand colonists. He proposed to

give each family a comfortably furnished house, with a 
garden spot attached, and, without extra charge to them, 
supply all their provisions, provide a hospital and 
medical attendance, a church, and a school-house, with 
a New England Christian minister, and New England school 
teachers. With each family I will make a .contract for 
four years, and will pay them more liberal wages than is 
now paid in any of the West India Islands. At the expi­
ration of the term for which these persons are employed, 
the Government of Hayti, by a special law, will give to 
each family sixteen acres of good land, and to each 
single man eight acres, so that, with this grant, and 
the money earned during the four years of service, the 
intelligent Negro may enter upon a life of freedom and 
independence, conscious that he has earned the means of 
livelihood, and at the same time disciplined himself to 
the duties, the pleasures, and the wants of free labor.20

Kock would act as governor of the island and would see to the 
"enforcement of wise and paternal regulations." To establish 
his "Industrial, Agricultural American Colony," Kock asked 
that the government furnish the colonists with transporta­
tion and subsistence for a short period as well as furnish 
the means for providing them with agricultural implements 
and machinery. He indicated that he would refund all monies
expended for transportation and subsistence, giving a deed

. 2 1of trust upon all personal property upon the island.

20t v . , Ibid.
21Ibid.



22
In this letter Kock pointed out the commercial 

advantages of an American port in those waters. He esti­
mated that within a few years the commerce of the island 
would amount to several millions. Kock also noted the 
political importance of this enterprise.

The successful establishment of such an American colony 
in Hayti, as proposed, would materially interfere with 
the ambitious designs of Spain in that quarter and would 
greatly aid a young and thriving republic in maintaining 
her integrity, and would insure each individual thereof 
his personal freedom from bondage and oppression.22

Commerce and politics had both played a vital role in
gaining U. S. recognition of the island republic earlier in

2 3 . .1862. Now the argument for colonization added a third
element, cotton. Hayti had long been considered by some 
colonizationists as an ideal location. Its climate, proxim­
ity, and Negro population were all advantages. Proximity 
and Negro population were also disadvantages for some saw 
these as a possible threat to United States security.
Others saw Hayti as a breeding ground for servile insur- 

24rection.
In the 1820*s Hayti had encouraged immigration of 

American blacks but had been opposed by the American Coloni­
zation Society. After the revolution in 1859, President 
Geffard once again sought black immigrants from the United

2 3Ludwell L. Montague, Haiti and the United States, 
1714-1938 (Durham: Duke University Press, 1940), 86. Here­
after cited as Haiti and the United States.

24Ibid., 69.



States. He appointed James Redpath, a militant abolitionist
from the United States, as "general agent of emigration to

25Hayti from the states and provinces of North America." 
Redpath*s activities in Boston sent about 1600 emigrants to 
Hayti in 1861.

With interest aroused in his scheme, Kock left Wash­
ington for New York. There he established himself in Great
Jones Street and began preparing for the resettlement of

2 65,000 Negroes upon lie A*Vache. He first sought financial 
assistance for his colony. With a copy of the proposed gov­
ernment contract and his guarantee of the President*s signa­
ture, Kock persuaded a group of businessmen to finance his 
commercial venture. Indeed his plan seemed sound. He pro­
posed to transport the freedmen to the island, immediately 
plant sea island cotton, and produce a crop of 1,000 bales 
within eight or nine months. At war prices this could mean
a yield of $50 0,000,000 for an initial outlay of only 

27$70,000. Kock assured these financiers that the Soil was 
similar to that of Alabama and well suited to the growth of 
cotton. He claimed he had already grown cotton on the

25James Redpath, A Guide to Hayti (Boston 
Eldridge, 1860),64.

Thayer &

26Ibid.
27Paul S. Forbes to James P. Usher, April 18, 1864, 

New York, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9. Memorandum of 
Charles K. Tuckerman (N.D.), ibid. Nicolay, Abraham Lincoln, 
VI, 361.



island, where it grew indigenous. Paul S. Forbes, Charles
K. Tuckerman and Leonard W. Jerome were the principal
backers of the venture. Tuckerman wrote later that they
were never partners, that he and his friends entered the
enterprise on the strength of the Presidents signature and

2 8the hope of a successful and profitable colony.
On November 1, having received no reply to his pro­

position, Kock wrote to James Mitchell, the Commissioner of 
Emigration and Colonization. He enclosed a copy of his 
October 1 letter to the President and wrote of his business 
in New York. Kock stated that he had already spent $14,500 
for machinery and agricultural implements and had contracted 
for houses to the amount of $17,000. He boasted that his 
colony would be "one of the most complete establishments on 
the Continent and superior to any in the West Indies’." A 
number of men had already been engaged as superintendents. 
Now, Kock was writing to Mitchell to "appeal to you, as the
Authorized Agent of the Government for assistance to put the

29colony m  working order."
Mitchell thought the plan a good one. He drew up a 

brief of Kock’s proposition and submitted it with his own 
recommendation to Lincoln. He also submitted a rough draft 
of a contract but noted that the "terms of my commission

2 8Tuckerman's Memorandum, in Slave Trade Collection,
reel 9.

29Letter, Kock to Mitchell, New York, November 1, 
1862, ibid.



whilst empowering this office ’to organize and locate colo- 
nies * leaves me powerless to move without your endorsement 
involving expenditures." Mitchell felt the contract he had
drawn would bind "Mr. Kock firmly to a humane and liberal

30policy."
The plan now received full attention of the depart­

ments involved. Mr. Van Vleet, Kock's agent in Washington, 
was asked to supply references for the gentleman. Kock's 
contract with Hayti was examined. It had been granted to 
Kock on the 8th of August, 1862, for a period of ten years, 
renewable for ten more. It was the last contract of its 
kind granted by the Haytian government; on August 14 a Hay-
tian law had been enacted which forbade any more such

. 31grants.
The grant gave Kock the exclusive right to improve 

forests, to take and farm whatever quantity of land was 
needed for cultivation of provisions, to colonize laborers 
of African or Indian races, and to exempt materials for 
these improvements and subsistence for the laborers from all 
imposts and duties. In return, Kock was bound to relinquish 
thirty five and one quarter per cent in kind to the govern­
ment of the timber cuttings. The laborers imported for work 
under this contract were to become naturalized Haytians

30Letter, Mrtchell to Lincoln, Washington, Novem­
ber 11, 1862, ibid.

31Letter, ______   Muller to Kock, New York, August
, 1862, ibid.



26
immediately upon their arrival; upon the expiration of their
contract with Kock they were to be entitled to become farmers
arid landowners. The Haytian government reserved the right
to exercise its power in controlling the proper clearing of
the woods and to establish at its own cost military posts or
garrisons. Article 2 of the contract bound Kock to begin

32the improvement of lie A'Vache within six months.
Mitchell made inquiries concerning the legality of 

this contract of Ernest Roumain, the Haytian minister in 
Washington. Roumain replied that his government greatly 
desired the success of the colonization experiment. In a 
later letter to Senator Pomeroy/ Roumain certified Kock's 
contract and stated that it had been granted after obtaining 
full information about Kock's responsibility and his capa­
bility to carry out the contract. He stated that Kock had 
arrived in Port-au-Prince early in the spring of 1862 with
letters of recommendation from reputable bankers in London

33to several important merchants m  the Islands.
At this point a small interruption foreshadowed the 

future of Kock's relations with the United States government.
A rumor implying dishonesty reached Kock and he wrote to 
Robert Murray, the United States Marshall at New York, 
regarding its origin. Murray assured Kock he had made no

32Contract, Kock and the Republic of Hayti, Port-au- 
Prince, August 8, 1862, ibid. (For complete text of con­
tract see Appendix).

33Letter, Ernest Roumain to Mitchell, Washington,
November 5, 1862, ibid.



such accusations and that he felt them to be groundless.
34None of these suspicions reached Washington at this time.

In mid-December Van Vleet had an interview with
Lincoln at which he presented letters of recommendation for
Kock from A. C. Rossire & Co., D. & W. Williamson, Stiles
Walsted & Co. and William C. Wetmore, all merchants in New
York. All stated they knew Kock to be a man of means and
undoubted respectability and considered him fully able to
carry out the lie A'Vache expedition. On December 13, 1862
more recommendations were made on Kock's behalf. Mr. W. E.
Robinson, of the United States' Assessor's Office, wrote
Lincoln that he had "no hesitation" in recommending the man

35and the experiment. Attorney General Bates felt other­
wise, denouncing Kock as a "charlatan adventurer." Kock had 
called upon Bates to ask him to write out a contract for the 
colonization project. "I told him that I had not been con­
sulted, and did not choose to play scrivener in the
, . «36business.

On December 31, 1862, the night before issuing the 
Emancipation Proclamation, President Lincoln signed a con­
tract with Kock for the colonization of 5,000 freedmen on 
lie A'Vache according to the terms set forth in Seward's

34Letter, Robert Murray to Kock, New York, Novem­
ber 17, 1862, ibid.

35See letters of recommendation for Bernard Kock,
ibid.

36Bates, Diary, 168.



circular letter of September 30, 18 62. The emigration was
to be strictly voluntary and followed the lines of Kock*s
proposal to the. President in his letter of October 1. The
contract stipulated that as soon as the capital invested in
the buildings, machinery, agricultural implements and other
necessities should have been refunded, ten per cent of the
net profits were to be distributed pro rata among the
laborers on the first day of January. The ninth article of
the contract bound Kock to recommend a respect for the ten
commandments. The tenth article provided for the presence
of a government agent in the colony to see that the stipula-

37tions were correctly carried out.
In consideration for removal of the freedman and 

compliance with the stipulations, Kock was to receive fifty 
dollars per capita. This sum was to be paid in installments 
upon the presentation of certain documentary evidence of the 
colonists* well-being and safety. The contract was signed 
for the United States by the President, Abraham Lincoln.

Instructed to take his copy of the contract to the 
Department of State to have it certified and sealed, Kock 
deposited it there on January 2, 1863. When he returned for 
it the next day he was advised it was not ready. Seward 
wrote a note to Lincoln that day indicating his reluctance

37Contract, Kock and the United States of America,
Washington, December 31, 1862, in Slave Trade Collection,
reel 9. (For complete text see Appendix).



38to complete the contract. Rather belatedly, Seward dis­
patched a letter to the United States Consul in Hayti, 
Benjamin F. Whidden, requesting information on Kock and his 
claims. On January 6, Kock demanded the return of his con­
tract but was again denied; Lincoln had written to Seward

39asking that the Kock contract be retained under advisement. 
Kock wrote to Usher protesting Seward's action. He requested 
Usher to send Seward copies of the Haytian contract and let­
ters of recommendation from Hayti and New York. Kock drew 
attention to the fact that earlier Seward's department had 
refused to have anything to do with the scheme. He urged
the Secretary to remember that an early departure was essen-

40tial for the success of the colony.
Then, on January 13, all hope of Kock's contract 

being certified was erased with Robert Murray's telegram to 
Usher reporting the possibility of fraud. George C. Whiting, 
chief clerk of the Interior Department, was sent to New York 
where he ascertained that charges of fraud had been made by 
David M. Merrick. Merrick held Power of Attorney for Andrew 
Hackson, William S. Skinner, and John R. Cree, all New York 
merchants, to collect all money due or to grow due them by

3 8Letter, Seward to Lincoln, Washington, January 2,
1862, ibid.

39Letter, Lincoln to Seward, Washington, January 6,
1863, in Works, VI, 41.

40Letter, Kock to James P. Usher, Washington,
January 8, 1863, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



41Bernard Kock.
Merrickfs story was indeed a fantastic one. In his 

statement of facts, made January 15, 1863, he claimed to 
have begun observance of Kock’s activities early in September, 
1862. Merrick followed Kock (designated Cotton Planter in 
Merrick’s manuscript) to New York where he found Kock to be 
connected with other Southerners in the colonization scheme. 
Merrick became acquainted with one of Kock’s agents and 
through him learned of an opening in Kock's organization for 
an engineer. Merrick secured this position at the salary of 
$1,200 per year about the middle of October. Gaining the 
confidence of Kock and his private secretary, Mr. Williamson, 
Merrick was able to learn the location of private communica­
tions. He gained access to these and found a letter from 
Captain Raphael Semmes of the C. S. S. Alabama.

The capt. told Kock that he would be in the vicinity of 
the Ilsnad of Avache about the first of January 1863 to 
receive the Negroes he might get from the United States 
Government for colonization. The Captain told Kock that 
he should be liberally rewarded. The writer of the let­
ter seemed to convey the idea that arrangements had been 
made previous to Kock and Semmes leaving New Orleans.
There were a large number of letters from Southerners 
and all those read by Merrick had reference to the same 
matter to taking Negroes to said Island and from there to Cuba.42

Kock's employees were charged with being Rebels, the 
exceptions being Williamson and an old man from Cuba by the

41Telegram, Robert Murray to the Department of the 
Interior, New York, January 13, 1863, ibid.

42 .Statement of David E. Merrick, New York, January
15, 1863, ibid.



31
name of Dolton* That Kock's employees were Southerners can­
not be denied for Kock wrote Van Vleet in November7 1862, 
giving him the names of his superintendents and their home
states* However, Kock assured Van Vleet that all these men

43were Union sympathizers.
Merrick's other charges against Kock concerned the 

money expended for the purchase of equipment. Merrick esti­
mated that $50,000 had already been spent on the project but 
that the merchants had not collected one dollar. Merrick 
himself was acting under the authority of merchants who had 
extended credit to Kock.

Whiting noted on the back of Murray's January 13th 
telegram that he had been to New York and had heard Merrick's 
charges but failed to see that they could be proved. The 
government seems to have taken no action other than a tempo­
rary suspension of Kock's contract. Following this episode, 
however, .Mitchell wrote to Usher that he had “just learned 
some things about Mr. Kock that he must clear up before we
can trust him with this interest. I am not ready to act in 

44his case ..." Mitchell's inquiries made back in November 
when he was preparing the brief for the President had turned 
up some unsavory background on Kock. The firm of Watts,
Crane & Co. of New Orleans, tobacco merchants, wrote of a

43Letter, Van Vleet to Lincoln, Washington, October 
4, 1862, in The Robert Todd Lincoln Collection (42-18866- 
70) .

44Letter, Mitchell to Usher, Washington, January 19,
1863, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



fraud perpetrated in New Orleans by one Bernard Kock. Kock 
had purchased several hundreds of inferior lug tobacco and 
one or two hundreds of fine leaf tobacco. The fine tobacco 
he made up into samples and transferred the "Tobacco Inspec­
tor's Sample Card" from the fine samples to the lug samples. 
He proposed to Watts, Crane & Co. to leave these samples 
with them for resale but was refused. Kock afterwards left 
the tobacco with Messrs. Hewitt, Norton & Co. and Messrs. 
Moore and Van Conklin for sale. A large portion of it was 
purchased by R. Yeatman of New Orleans and shipped to Europe. 
Before the deception could be detected, Kock sold all his 
property in New Orleans and left for Europe. Watts believed 
that Kock had made a great deal of money through this fraud. 
As soon as it was uncovered, Watts stated, his firm and 
other tobacco merchants of the Crescent City subscribed a 
fund to send a man after Kock but the search proved hopeless.

Throughout this period of suspicion Kock remained at 
work, readying his expedition. With official silence on the 
subject and the backing of the New York financiers, Kock's 
plans advanced. On March 3, 18 63, Forbes chartered the Ocean
Ranger, a British ship of 487 tons, to voyage from New York

46to Fortress Monroe and then on to lie A'Vache for $11,000.
The charter secured, the loading and outfitting began.

45Letter, Watts, Crane & Co. to R. Atkinson, New 
Orleans, January 2, 186 3, ibid.

46Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18,
186 3, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 1.



Watkins, a colored man hired as head superintendent, left 
for Fortress Monroe to begin recruitment of colonists. Then 
in mid-March more accusations of intended rascality were 
advanced.

H. B. Stanton of the New York Customs House wrote to
Robert Murray that he believed a "nefarious scheme to be
afloat to carry some Negroes out of this port and sell them
into slavery." He enclosed the statements of Mesrs. Tappan
and Flint to substantiate his view. Tappan and Flint were
New York merchants who had been approached by Kock to supply
portable houses for the expedition. Inquiries were made of
a New Orleans friend, a Mr. Bouligney, who replied that Kock
was a rascal. Corroboration of this opinion by other New
Orleans merchants persuaded the firm not to conclude the 

47contract.
Tappan and Flint were also acquainted with Mr.

Williamson, the private secretary. Williamson had quit his
position with Kock due to his belief that the whole affair
was a fraud. Flint spoke with Williamson upon his return
from Panama. Williamson said he had stopped over at lie
A'Vache and felt it was not a fit place for habitation.
Flint felt, however, that Forbes and the others had been
taken in when they guaranteed the contracts Kock signed with

4 8the colonists and chartered the Ocean Ranger.

4 7 .Statement of Tappan and Flint, New York, March 17,
1863, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



These reports, coupled with Dispatch #20 of B. F. 
Whidden, United States Consul at Hayti, heightened the feel­
ing that the contract with Kock should be broken. Whidden 
reported that Kock's Haytian contract was definitely legal. 
He pointed out, however, that the six month's commencement 
clause had already expired. As to Kock's ability to carry 
out the scheme, Whidden wrote that "he has not the visible 
necessary means of his own. I have heard him called 'an 
adventurer.'" At the conclusion of Whidden's dispatch, he 
stressed the necessity of a guarantee from Kock for the con­
dition and treatment of the immigrants during their journey

49and after their arrival at lie A'Vache.
Now the question could no longer be ignored; Kock 

was informed that his contract with the government was to be 
cancelled. Although Kock's backers were also notified of 
the cancellation no explanation was given them. Since the 
expedition had progressed this far, Forbes and Tuckerman 
stood to lose a great deal with the cancellation of the con­
tract. Tuckerman proceeded to Washington and apparently had 
an interview with the President. At this meeting Lincoln 
supposedly assured Tuckerman that if he and the others were 
willing to assume the responsibility, a contract with the

49 •Letter, B. F. Whidden to Seward, Dispatch #20,
Port-au-Prince, March 4, 1863 (received March 21, 1863), in
Slave Trade Collection, reel 2.



50government could be negotiated. On March 20, Kock trans­
ferred his lease to Forbes and Tuckerman. A contract was 
drawn and signed with Forbes and Tuckerman as the principals 
This time Secretary Usher, instead of President Lincoln, con 
tracted for the United States.

Tuckerman, in a letter written to the Secretary of 
the Interior a year later supporting his claim, set forth 
the idea that he and the others involved were forced into 
the "alternative of accepting one [contract] in our own 
name ..." and that they had been

in utter ignorance of Mr. Seward's private criticism of 
the President's official act or that he intended to 
withdraw the contract finally and forever from Kock.
In good faith we advanced money and promoted movement 
thus initiated by the President's own act and hand and 
will assert under oath that no representative of Kock's 
or promises of great commercial advantages would_have 
induced us to go into this but for the contract.

Tuckerman admitted that "without some basis of commercial
prosperity, men however benevolent or patriotic would be

52wanting in common sense to further colonization schemes." 
Forbes, Tuckerman and Jerome could either lose completely 
or proceed with the colony in an effort to recoup these 
losses. If Kock were to be believed at all the first crop 
of cotton would insure recovery and success.

50Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18, 
1864, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9. There is no record 
of such an interview other than Tuckerman's reference to one 
in this letter.

5 1 , .Ibid.
5 2 , . _Ibid.



36
The contract entered into by Forbes and Tuckerman on 

the one part and the United States of America on the other, 
was much like the contract signed with Bernard Kock, includ­
ing the terms of Mr. Seward's September 30th letter. This 
is an important point, as the Forbes-Tuckerman case for com­
pensation later revolved around this "impossible condition."
The Forbes-Tuckerman contract engaged the transportation of 
not more than 500 Negroes at fifty dollars per capita.
Again there was an emphasis on voluntary migration and a 
stipulation that no payment was to be made without documen­
tary proof of the colonists' well-being and safety.

The contract called for the establishment of a col­
ony with churches, schools and hospitals. It provided that 
all

such emigrants and their posterity shall forever remain 
free, and in no case be reduced to bondage, slavery or 
involuntary servitude, except for crime ... Gn cases of 
indigence resulting from injury, sickness or age, any 
of such emigrants who shall become paupers, shall not 
thereupon be suffered to perish or to come to want, but 
shall be supported and cared f o r . 53

It would appear that after the incident with Kock the gov­
ernment sought a written guarantee for the colonists' safety.

Forbes and Tuckerman signed the contract in New York 
April 6, 1863, in the office of the United States District 
Attorney, E. Delafield Smith, with Robert Murray as witness.
The contract was sent to Washington and submitted to the

53Contract, Paul Forbes and Charles K. Tuckerman and 
the United States of America, Washington, April 16, 186 3, in 
Slave Trade Collection, reel 1. (For complete text see 
Appendix



President for his approval. This was given April 13, 1863
and on April 16, Secretary Usher signed the contract on
behalf of the United States. Also on that day President
Lincoln issued a proclamation cancelling the contract made

54m  December with Bernard Kock.

54Proclamation of Abraham Lincoln, Washington, 
April 16, 1863, in Works, VI, 178-179.



CHAPTER III
THE INDUSTRIAL, AGRICULTURAL AMERICAN COLONY

As Forbes and Tuckerman negotiated with the United 
States government for a new contract, their chartered ship, 
the Ocean Ranger, sailed for Fortress Monroe. Here the emi­
grants who had been recruited were waiting to embark.
Watkins had been sent to Fortress Monroe earlier to select 
a company of colonists from the freedmen and contrabands in 
the area. A respectable and educated man of color, Watkins 
was known to prominent Republicans of New York and had been
involved in a previous emigration movement to Hayti headed

1by James Redpath.
Fortress Monroe was a gathering point for the freed

Negro. Here protection and employment was provided by the
United States Army. A report on the conditions around
Fortress Monroe made in March, 1862, listed over 1,500
Negroes (freedmen and contrabands) in the area, over 40 0

2of whom were employed by the Army m  some capacity. Two 
large buildings had been built to house these people but

^Be-11, "Negro Nationalism," 52.
2Edwin M. Stanton, "Report on Afrxcans xn Fort Mon­

roe Military District," 37 Cong., 2 sess., Executive Docu­
ment No. 85, 5, 10.
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many lived in log huts and deserted buildings. The investi­
gating commission reported inadequate rations and generally 
deplorable conditions. Approximately $10,433.82 was owed to 
these people, primarily by officers and civilians who 
employed them as servants and by the quartermaster's depart­
ment . ̂

A year later, a correspondent of the Philadelphia 
Inquirer was quoted by the Richmond Daily Whig in a story 
about the contrabands around Fortress Monroe. This reporter 
stated that

They care very little as to who rules. Many of them 
state that they were just as comfortable when with their 
masters as now. They seem indifferent to everything but 
eating, lounging and sleeping. Speaking of 'contra­
bands' - out of the large number assembled at this point 
and Hampton Creek, if you want a little labor work done, 
it is almost an impossibility to get any of these folks 
to do it.4

From this group, Watkins was able to recruit 452 
men, women and children to join the expeditions. Tuckerman 
reported that many of these people told him they would be 
-happy to leave the area; that several left with government 
wages due them. Of these 452, 298 were between the ages of
18 and 30 (see Table I), with most of these males. The
majority of the emigrants came from Virginia, especially the 
Richmond area. There were 47 from North Carolina, South
Carolina, Alabama and the District of Columbia (see Table II),.

3Ibid., 7.
Richmond Daily Whig, April 12, 1862, p. 1, col. 2.

5Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, July 7, 186 3,
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TABLE I

BREAKDOWN OF EMIGRANTS BY AGE

Age Bracket Total Individual

1 month 
to

10 years
47

-1... 7 
1. . . 3 
2 . .. 7

3. . . 2 
4... 3 
5. . . 3

6 ... 3
7... 5 
8 . . . 5

9... 3 
10... 6

11 years 
to

20 years
109

11... 2
12. . . 5
13. .. 6

14... 2
15... 8 
16. . . 3

17... 4
18...26 
19...19

20...34

21 years 
to

30 years
219

21.. .41
22.. .30
23...25

24...19
25...32
26...14

27...17
28... 5 
29. . . 4

30. . .32

31 years 
to

40 years
45

31... 2 32. . . 5
33... 4

34. . . 2
35...12
36... 4

37... 3
38... 6 
39. . . 0

40... 7

41 years 
to

50 years
20

41... 0
42.. . 1 
43. . . 1

44. . . 0
45... 8
46... 0

47... 0
48... 0 
49. . . 2

50... 8

51 years 
to

62 years
5

53... 2 
55. . . 1 
59. . . 1

62... 1

Compiled from "Corrected List of Emigrants to lie A 11Vache,
Hayti," enclosed in letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York,
July 7, 186 3, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



TABLE II
BREAKDOWN OF EMIGRANTS BY FORMER PLACE OF RESIDENCE

VIRGINIA
Alexandria ...............  2
Blackwater*  ..........  6
Charles City Co...........  5
Eastern Shore ............  17
Elizabeth C i t y    1
Faulkner Co.[Fauquier Co.] 1
Gloucester ....,.■.......... 7
Hampden [Hampton?] .....   47
Hampton ........    8
Isle of W i g h t .......   8
James City Co. ........... 5
King and Queen Co......... 1
King William Co...........  6
Lancaster Co.  ..........  12
Mathews Co. * .........   9
Mt. Pleasant  ........ 1
Nansemung# [Nansemond Co.] 12
New Kent Co.  ............  21
Norfolk  ...............  17
Northampton Co..............35
Northld. Co. [sic] ........ 19
Orange Co................   . 1
Petersburg* ..............  7
Prince George Co..........  2
Princess Anne Co.  .....  23
Rappahannock Co...........  8
Richmond  .......    60
Sewall1s Point  .......... 1
Smithfield ...............  2
Southampton ..............  7
Spotsylvania  ........ 1
Suffolk ................... 2
Summers Co. [sic]  ....... 1
Surry Co. . . .  .....   7
Sussex  .......   1
Warwick Co.*  .......   5
Western Shore  ......... 1
Westmoreland Co...........  3
Williamsburg  ......... 5
York Co. .  ...............  4
Yorktown ............   1

T O T A L   .......... 382

NORTH CAROLINA
Bertie Co.* ........    3
Camden  ........   2
Chowan Co.......   1
Edenton ................... 2
Elizabeth C i t y ........   3
Gates Co..................   3
Hertford*  ........   3
Newbern ......     1
Pasquotank* ........    4
Quimmins Co........   17

[Perquimans Co.]
Sherman  ..........  1
North Carolina

(no city listed) ......  2
T O T A L    .  ........   . 42

SOUTH CAROLINA
Charleston ........   6
Beaufort  ......... 3
Hampden ..................   3

T O T A L   ............  12

ALABAMA
Madison Co......   __2

TOTAL ................  2

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ....  5

*Variant spellings in 
manuscript 

#Listed Va. and North 
Carolina

Compiled from "Corrected List of Emigrants to lie A'Vache, 
Hayti," enclosed in Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, 
July 7, 1863, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.
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The second week in April, the emigrants and their 

belongings aboard, the Ocean Ranger was inspected by a mem- 
ber of Major General John A. Dix's staff who pronounced it 
fit and ready. Charles Tuckerman also examined the vessel 
and spoke with the emigrants. Tuckerman and Watkins signed 
an affidavit after this inspection to the effect that the 
emigrants had freely consented to go and that all minors 
were aboard with permission of parents or guardians. This 
fact was also testified to by Major General Dix "on evidence 
satisfactory to my own mind, and such as I should receive in 
all cases where direct personal inspection and examination 
by me are impracticable."

These necessities being taken care of, the ship
began its voyage to lie A'Vache, Hayti. Tuckerman wrote to
President Lincoln on April 14 that the ship had left For- 

7tress Monroe. Sailing with the emigrants were Watkins, 
several white superintendents, a Dr. Conklin, and Bernard 
Kock. Forbes and Tuckerman had arranged for Kock to remain 
with the company of emigrants as his presence was required 
to make good the Haytian contract. His position was to be 
subject to the authorized agent of Forbes and Tuckerman.

in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9. (For complete list of 
emigrants see Appendix!)

gCertificate of Maj. Gen. Dix, Fortress Monroe,
May 26, 186 3, enclosed in ibid.

7Letter, Tuckerman to Lincoln, New York, April 14, 
1863, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9. See also Daily 
Morning Chronicle [Washington], Thursday, April 16, 1863, 
p~ 47 col. 1 .



Tuckerman later stated that they had
felt bound to give him [Kock] remunerative employment in 
the colony so long as his course was satisfactory to 
ourselves, since he projected this colonisation move­
ment and at one time held a contract signed by the Presi­
dent for advancing this important object and in conse­
quence of which the gentlemen associated in the enter­
prise advanced the means for carrying it on.^

Although precautions had been taken to keep out 
those who had visited or even been in remote contact with 
the Negroes at Craney Island where smallpox prevailed, sev­
eral cases of the disease developed on board ship. Estima­
tion of deaths resulting from this outbreak vary, the most

9common being thirty. There was a daughter born to Randell 
and Louisa Shoales, a young couple from Richmond. Born on 
the high seas, she was appropriately named Oceana.^

The Ocean Ranger reached lie A ’Vache early in May.
A bleak sight must have indeed greeted the emigrants— there 
were no homes waiting for them as had been promised. Indeed 
there were no buildings of any kind and the island presented 
a primitive look. Tired from the voyage and many sick, the 
people disembarked hesitantly. Accounts of the development 
of the colony from this point vary greatly. On June 1, the 
United States Assistant Consul at Aux Cayes, George C. Ross, 
certified that the emigrants had been safely landed and were

QLetter, Tuckerman to Lincoln, New York, April 18, 
1864, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.

9 .Ibid.
"^List of Emigrants to lie A ’Vache, enclosed in

Tuckerman to Usher, New York, July 7, 1863, in Slave Trade
Collection, reel 9.



colonized on said island in accordance with the condi­
tions contained in the circular of Secretary Seward to 
that effect. I do certify that the new colony is flou­
rishing under the able, wise, and humane direction of its 
Projector Bernard Kock and that the emigrants have de­
clared before me and the Haytian authorities that they 
are. happy and contented.^-^

Soon after the landing of the emigrants, Haytian 
authorities visited the island and administered the oath 
required by the Act of Naturalization, "thereby affording to 
them, all the civil and political rights, liberties, and 
protection accorded to their own native population in addi­
tion to the exclusive advantages afforded them as Emigrants

12m  the right of free men and exemption from military duty." 
Although this oath was administered, Forbes and Tuckerman 
failed to secure the written "special guarantees" set forth 
in Secretary Seward's September 30th letter. The certifi­
cate of Ross on June 1 was incorrect in stating that this 
stipulation had been satisfied. Forbes and Tuckerman claimed 
that Seward's letter had not been a part of Kock's contract; 
that the clause requiring the contractors to abide by the
instructions in the Secretary's letter was totally new to

13them when they signed the contract on April 6 , 1863.
This was a major argument presented by Tuckerman on 

July 7 when he handed the required documents to the

■^Certificate of G. C. Ross, Aux Cayes, June 1,
1863, ibid.

12Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, July 7,
1863, ibid.

13Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, July 29,
1863, ibid. See also Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18,
1864 and Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18, 1865, ibid.



Department of the Interior to prove compliance with the con­
tract. Along with the certificates of George Ross, Charles 
K. Tuckerman and Maj. Gen. Dix, and the corrected list of 
emigrants to lie A'Vache, a letter from Colonel Roumain was 
enclosed. Col. Roumain wrote to Tuckerman that

my government had considered it inexpedient to stipulate 
for any special protection in favor of persons of Afri­
can descent who are about to settle upon the Territory 
of the Republic. They will remain (elles restent pla- 
cees) [sic] under the general guarantees of our laws and 
our constitution, upon their arrival permit their natu­
ralization, which confers upon them the immediate enjoy­
ment of civil and political rights.14

The non-compliance of Forbes and Tuckerman with this
particular section of the contract and rumors of trouble in
the colony deterred settlement of the account. Instead
Usher wrote to Tuckerman inquiring about the stories he had
read in Southern newspapers of the colonists starving and
their deplorable condition. Tuckerman replied that the
accounts were "too ridiculous to deny." A few more people
had died from smallpox and two of the white employees had
been dismissed for inefficiency. "They doubtless," wrote

15Tuckerman, "did give colour to the report."
Then, in late August, the United States Commissioner 

to Hayti, Benjamin F. Whidden, enclosed in his dispatch to 
the State Department several reports from the United States

14Letter, Ernest Roumain to Tuckerman, New York, 
July 7, 1863, enclosed in Tuckerman to Usher, New York, 
July 7, 1863, ibid.

15Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, July 29, 
1863, ibid.



Consul at Aux Cayes, James DeLong. Whidden noted that "I
have no information from your department of any connection
of Bernard Kock or his emigrants with the United States Gov-

16ernment ..." but felt that DeLong1s reports were important.
DeLong*s dispatches to Port-au-Prince weave a story

of unhappiness which conflict with the reports of Forbes,
Tuckerman, Ross, and another man who visited the island in
late August, 1863, Alston Wilson. DeLong*s picture of
Kockfs movements, however, are supported in part by all
parties. From his dispatches and other reports emerge a
picture of mismanagement and oppression on the part of Kock.

On July 3, 1863, Kock crossed to Aux Cayes on the
mainland to request military aid in putting down a mutiny.
Several colonists were arrested but not imprisoned. On the
5th of July, Governor Fabre visited the island and was

17"fully satisfied that great injustice had been done."
DeLong came to know of the deplorable conditions on the 
island from some of the colonists who had come to Aux Cayes 
to escape the tyrannical rule of Kock. He wrote to Whidden 
charging that Kock had taken all the emigrants* money while 
on board the Ocean Ranger, exchanging it for notes he (Kock) 
had had printed in New York; that the food provided for the 
colonists was inadequate, consisting mostly of salt pork and

16Letter, Whidden to Seward, Dispatch #32, Port-au- 
Prince, August 21, 186 3 (received August 30, 1863), in Slave 
Trade Collection, reel 2.

17Letter, James DeLong to R. Conard, Aux Cayes,
July 8, 1863, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



cornbread; and that housing and hospital facilities were poor.
DeLong and others in Aux Cayes felt that Kock was "out to get

18his hands on all he can and then leave ...."
DeLong corresponded with Commissioner Whidden seve­

ral times during the month of July. On the 21st he reported
in a short note a rumor that Kock had poisoned Watkins and

19was about to leave suddenly. Requested by Whidden to visit 
the island, DeLong made the trip and had a personal interview 
with Kock.

Accompanied by Captain Cook of the U. S. Schooner
Clara Holmes, Emile Doneto, and two Negroes, DeLong landed at
the wharf on lie A'Vache. He was met by Haytian soldiers who
challenged him and then took him to Kock. The following
describes their meeting.

I inquired if this were Kock, he answered it was. I 
understand you sent soldiers to request me to call and 
see you, he answered by saying I want you to understand 
that I am proprietor here. X own this Island and that 
you have no business here, and my orders are not to 
allow any person to land on the Island without my leave.
I replied that I could not help the misfortune of the 
error into which he had fallen nor the despotic manner 
he desired to exercise his power; that he might exercise 
it for the time being over the poor blacks lately re­
deemed from the chains of slavery by the blood of my 
countrymen in the field of battle, but that he could not 
exercise it over me, that I had a mission to perform and 
I intended to fulfill it and turned to a Mr. Ripka who 
was of the United States and a resident of the city of 
Philadelphia. I take him to be a gentlemen and asked 
him if he would accompany me to the tents of the emi­
grants, he replied he would with pleasure— Mr. Kock pre­
viously said I should not visit them— so we left Mr. Kock

Ibid.
19Letter, DeLong to Conard, Aux Cayes, July 21,

1863, ibid.



somewhat humbled— I am now at a point where you will 
expect me to give you the particulars this I cannot do 
it would take volumes, but I can say without fear of 
contradiction that the condition of the emigrants is 
tenfold more than I reported to you in my dispatches 
#1 and 2. They all gathered round me, men, women and 
children with tears, misery and sorrow pictured on every 
countenance--! can never blot from my memory the sights 
of the 25th of July, 1863. X think of them all the time, 
their condition is constantly before me— I talked to 
them as kindly as I could find language to do and they shed tears when I left.^O

Andrew A. Ripka was the agent sent out by Forbes and 
Tuckerman shortly after the Ocean Ranger had landed. He had 
instructions to oversee the colony, to arrange for provi­
sions, to negotiate with the firm of Brown, Ross and Co. for
supplies, and to dismiss Kock in the event of any mismanage- 

21ment. Ripka seems to have been a man of many faces. In
every report of the venture he is described differently. 
Forbes and Tuckerman represented him to be trustworthy, hon­
est and responsible, while Donnohue, the government agent
sent to lie A'Vache in October, 1863, saw him as an opportu- 

22mst. Instructions from Forbes and Tuckerman were not
.carried out fully, for Kock was not dismissed, although mis­
management and inhumane treatment were obvious. Ripka 
returned to New York in late August to report to the princi­
pals on the progress of the colony. Sometime between his 
departure and the last of September, Kock was obliged to

20Letter, DeLong to Conard, Aux Cayes, July 27, 
1863, ibid.

21Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, October 17,
1863, ibid.

22Letter, D. C. Donnohue to Usher, Port-au-Prince, 
December 5, 1863, ibid.



flee from the island, the colonists at last challenging his
23tyrannical rule.

This situation now came to the attention of Commis­
sioner Whidden. His immediate reaction was a dispatch on 
October 3, 1863 to Seward stating the condition of the 
colony.

The origin and cause of these troubles seems to have 
been a failure on the part of Kock to fulfill his con­
tract with them. From this failure, they have been 
reduced to great suffering, exposure, and in many cases 
distress ... They ... have been dispersed from their 
conferences by the military obtained from Hayti. The 
discipline of the overseers of this colony has been 
mixed with a good deal of severity...^4

Whidden had no knowledge of the contract regarding the emi­
grants but felt the government should be informed of the 
deterioration of the conditions on the island. With his 
dispatch he enclosed several of DeLong's dispatches and affi­
davits of Robert Henry and William Skinner, former colonists 
then residing in Aux Cayes.

Both affidavits described vividly the horrors of the 
gmallpox which had broken out on board the Ocean Ranger.
Henry testified that after landing, the sick were put into a 
so-called hospital on one end of the island but were not 
cared for. Both of these men, Henry and Skinner, were among 
some twenty-nine emigrants who had left the island protest­
ing Kock's management. These men had come to Aux Cayes to

24Letter, Whidden to Seward, Dispatch #39, Port-au-
Prince, October 3, 1863 (received October 26, 1863), in Slave
Trade Collection, reel 9.



search for employment but had been greeted by hostile Haytian
authorities. DeLong intervened and secured employment for

25several of them, supporting others out of his own pocket. 
Although the affidavits touched upon existing conditions, 
they dealt primarily with the treatment of smallpox on the 
island.

Whidden*s dispatch was forwarded by Seward to the 
Interior Department immediately. These rumors of trouble 
and Tuckerman*s pressure for payment prompted the appoint­
ment of a special government agent to visit lie A*Vache and 
report directly to the Department on the conditions and 
prospects of the colony. On October 9, 1863, Usher wrote
his former law partner in Greencastle, Indiana, D. C. Donno-

2 6hue, requesting that he serve as the special agent. Don­
nohue accepted the assignment and quickly prepared for 
departure on October 20 aboard the Saladin from New York. 
Unfortunately, he missed this boat and had to wait for the 
next steamer to Port-au-Prince.

A. A. Ripka, however, did not miss the sailing of 
the Saladin. He went with instructions from Forbes and 
Tuckerman- to find some commercial house or private party 
who would buy the property on the island and guarantee

25Letter, DeLong to Usher, Aux Cayes, May 29, 1866, 
-̂n Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.

26Letter, Usher to Donnohue, Washington, October 9,
186 3, ibid.



27protection of the Negro colonists. Tuckerman. had written 
to Usher proposing the sale. He had inquired if the govern­
ment agent could be empowered "to assume charge of them [the
emigrants] and provide for their immediate necessities by

2 8removal to the main island or the United States?" Usher 
cautioned Tuckerman against any move to abandon the emi­
grants and urged him to continue support of the colony.

Donnohue reached Port-au-Prince October 29, where he 
met Ripka. Ripka told Donnohue that he had arranged for the 
sale of the property and interests but completion of the 
deal had been obstructed by Haytian authorities. The Hay­
tian Secretary of the Interior told Ripka that the Haytian 
Government would consider a proposition to purchase the col­
ony. Donnohue advised Ripka against this move and requested 
instruction from Washington as to how to proceed in view of 
virtual abandonment. Ripka informed Donnohue that Haytian 
soldiers remained on the island, that the land would not 
produce enough to support even one man, that many of the 
same people employed by Kock were still present on the 
island, and that he (Ripka) planned to return to New York
leaving the colony in the hands of the United States 

29government.

27Letter, Andrew A. Ripka to Donnohue, Port-au- 
Prince, December 5, 1863, ibid.

2 8Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, October 17, 
186 3, ibid.

29Letter, Donnohue to Usher, Port-au-Prince, Decem­
ber 5, 1863, ibid.



Kock called upon Donnohue on December 30 but did not
call again. Donnohue reported rumors of Kock intriguing
with the Haytian government to regain control of the island.
He also reported the sentiments of several representatives
of other governments expressed at a formal dinner given by
Whidden on December 5. These men were distressed by the
violence and the inhumane treatment of the Negroes and hoped

30something would be done soon.
In view of the reports of Donnohue and a letter

written to the Interior Department by Leonard W. Jerome,
attorney for Forbes and Tuckerman and himself a partner in
the venture, Usher instructed Donnohue to assume control of
the colony and provide for the colonists from the general

31appropriation for colonization. Jerome1s letter asserted
that the failure of the colony was due to non-payment of the
contracted bounty. He stated that unless this sum was paid
the principals would consider it no longer their duty to

32support the colony. Again, Forbes and Tuckerman were 
urged by Usher not to abandon the experiment. He informed
them that to do so at this stage would seriously damage their
case.

3 0Letter, Donnohue to Usher, Aux Cayes, January 5, 
1864, ibid.

31Letter, Usher to Donnohue, Washington, December 15, 
1863, ibid.

32Letter, Leonard W. Jerome to Usher, New York,
December 12, 1863, ibid.



After reviewing the situation in Port-au-Prince, 
Donnohue set out for Aux Cayes. Here he was received by 
James DeLong. G. C. Ross attempted to meet Donnohue and 
extend a welcome from the fipn of Brown, Ross and Co.,
Forbes and Tuckerman *s agents in Aux Cayes after the depar­
ture of Ripka. As DeLong reported:

When he [Donnohue] landed at the wharf in this place 
G. C. Ross of the firm Brown, Ross and Co. and a man 
by the name of Ernest Dutche were on hand and in my 
presence ordered his baggage to be taken to Brown's 
residence. They were determined to take him into their 
care and keeping but he very deliberately and without 
making any reply or saying one word walked off with me 
to my humble residence and remained with me until an 
opportunity afforded him to visit the lie A'Vache . ..^3

Thus Donnohue at once alienated himself from the 
representatives of the New York interests. When he did 
visit the island, however, he was accompanied by Brown and 
Ross. Donnohue found the conditions deplorable and the peo­
ple unanimous in their wish to return to. the United States. 
He gave the number of people on the island as of January 3, 
1864 as 292. With the 73 residing in Aux Cayes, this made a 
to.tal of 365. The remaining 88 had either died or left the 
island completely. Following Usher's instructions, Donnohue 
assumed control of the colony. At this time, the people 
were living in huts they had constructed themselves after 
the fashion of the natives on the mainland; the only build­
ings were the wharf, a~storehouse, the Grand Pavillion, and 
a number of residences built for Kock and the white

33Letter, DeLong to Usher, Aux Cayes, December 28,
1864, ibid.



superintendents. The people were poorly dressed and had few
possessions. The fields were uncultivated except for about
twenty acres of cotton. The people subsisted on fresh fish,

34cornmeal and wrld hogs.
Soon after Donnohue*s arrival on the island, Kock

paid a visit to the colony.
He ... . started out among his people as he in his hypoc­
risy choose to term the poor negroes who had confided 
their destinies to him, he had not proceeded more than 
150 yards from my house before his people began to 
exhibit signs of hostility; and if you ever seen a lit­
tle devil run and squall equal to Kock you have seen 
what I never seen before. He was a little the worst 
demoralized individual I ever seen before, and as he 
came thru a gate near me he squalled out 'They are after 
me.* I assured him they only desired to embrace him, 
'no, no.' the poor cuss shrieked and 'they want to kill 
me* we arranged the terms of surrender which was Kock 
was to leave Hayti to which he readily assented and went 
over to Aux Cayes and left on the first steamer.35

Donnohue urged the Department to send for the col­
onists. In the meantime he saw to the relief of the colony, 
ordering foodstuffs and clothing for the emigrants. On 
January 24 when Usher received the first of Donnohue's 
reports for lie A'Vache, he immediately proposed to the 
President to send a steamer to bring the colonists home.
By February 1 the decision had been made and the Secretary 
of War, Edwin M. Stanton, was requested to order to Aux 
Cayes, if practicable, a suitable transport for 365 colo­
nists. The Marcia C. Day was provided and a Captain Hartz

34Letter, Donnohue to Usher, lie A'Vache, January 5, 
1864 , ibid.

35•Ibid.



was appointed special quartermaster to provide for the emi-
3 6grants and keep detailed accounts of all expenditures.

The Marcia c. Day arrived at lie A'Vache on Febru­
ary 29, 1864 and preparations to depart began immediately.
The vessel was loaded and set under way by March 4th. Within 
three weeks the ship reached the United States, casting

37anchor m  the Potomac off Alexandria, Virginia on March 20. 
The colonization experiment had not lasted a year but bitter 
argument over it was to last for another nine years.

36Letter, Usher to Donnohue, Washington, January 24, 
1864, ibid.

37The Daily Morning Chronicle [Washington], March 21, 
1864, p. 2, col. 3. See also D. C. Donnohue, "Official Re­
port of the special agent of the Department of the Interior 
sent to lie A'Vache, Hayti," Washington, March 26, 186 4, in 
Slave Trade Coliection, reel 9. Hereafter cited as Donnohue, 
“Official Report.11



CHAPTER IV 
OFFICIAL REPORT VS CONTRACTORS1 CLAIMS

The Official report of agent Donnohue was submitted 
to the Department of the Interior on March 26, 1864, Acting 
upon the information contained in this report, Usher refused 
to settle accounts with Forbes and Tuckerman.^ Donnohue1s 
report, although brief, clearly placed blame for the failure 
of the experiment upon mismanagement by Kock and the con­
tractors. Donnohue informed the Department that the con­
tractors had ceased to give colonists employment and wages 
as of early November, 1863, and that when he arrived on the 
island there was only a small stock of provisions. It was 
not until late November or early December that Forbes and
Tuckerman had notified the government of their intention to

2remand the colony to the care of the government. From 
Donnohue1s report it would seem that the contractors had 
already implemented the policy of abandonment before that 
time.

■^Letter, Usher to Tuckerman, Washington, April 5, 
1864, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 1.

Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, October 20, 
1863, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9. See also Jerome to 
Usher, New York7 December 5, ITT63, ibid.

56



Donnohue had found the colonists dissatisfied and 
complaining bitterly about Kock's treatment. He also re­
ported the discovery of six pair of stocks, five dozen hand­
cuffs, and three dozen leg-chains upon H e  A'Vache. This, 
the attitude of the colonists, and the lack of a viable sys­
tem of agriculture convinced Donnohue that the colony*s 
"Failure was owing, entirely, to mismanagement of its pro­
jectors and their agents." Donnohue "was so thoroughly 
impressed with the natural advantages the Island afforded
and great reward it promised" that he was at first inclined

. . 3to encourage the colonists to remain on the island. The
opposition of both the colonists and th e Haytian Government 
forced him to give up the scheme and make preparations for 
the return of the remaining emigrants. For the colonists 
the venture had been only hardship and broken promises. For 
the Haytian Government the colony had been an expense with 
no return. Kock*s contract had provided for forest improve­
ment which would have surrendered thirty five and one quarter 
per cent in kind to the government. When Forbes and Tucker­
man ordered Ripka to sell the colony, the Haytian authori­
ties had blocked a private sale and had proposed to purchase 
the colony itself. This was in turn blocked by agent Donno­
hue. Thus, when Donnohue proposed to stay, the Haytian Gov­
ernment indicated that they were quite unwilling to allow the 
colony to remain/

3Donnohue, "Official Report."
4 .Montague, Haiti and the United States, 79.



Despite the glowing description of the fertile land 
and healthy climate and the inclination to make the colony a 
productive one, Donnohue concluded that the scheme of colo­
nization in Hayti was hopeless.

There are, in my judgement, reasons which will, for many 
years to come, render abortive all attempts at coloniz­
ing the free colored people of the United States in the 
Republic of Hayti, prominently among which are the great 
dissimilarity which exists in language, religion, educa­
tion and government. Though these people are, for the 
most part, of the same race they have, apparently the 
least possible degree of sympathy for each other ...^

Indeed, Donnohue provided passage for 39 Negroes who had 
come to Hayti in 1861 in response to James Redpath's coloni­
zation efforts. "Owing to their unpreparedness and the un-

6favorable climate not more than one third of them remained."
Until the Marcia C. Day arrived, Donnohue attempted 

to keep the colony supplied and busy. He arranged for pro­
visions and clothing through several firms in Aux Cayes and 
New York. He also had the colonists plant about twenty 
acres of cotton. This cotton, Donnohue reported, was be­
ginning to ripen just as they departed, "having attained a
growth far beyond any I had ever seen, though I have visited

7and been acquainted with the best cotton growing regions." 
This part of the report confirmed Kock's original contentions

5Donnohue, "Official Report."
L. R. Mehlinger, "Attitude of Free Negroes on Afri­

can Colonization During the Civil War," Journal of Negro His­
tory , I (1916), 301. Hereafter cited as "Attitude of Free 
Negroes."

' 7Donnohue, "Official Report."



that the land was fertile and discounted Forbes and Tucker- 
man's assertion that the colony was in danger because the

Qsoil was not productive.
Donnohue's report included an affidavit signed by 

twenty of the colonists, certified by James DeLong. These 
were probably the men referred to earlier by DeLong in his 
dispatches to Whidden. Their statement concerned the treat­
ment of smallpox just as Henry and Skinner *s previous affi­
davits had. This document, however, accused Watkins of 
obtaining the colonists under false pretenses by promising 
them fifty dollars and an interview with President Lincoln. 
It also accused Kock of forcing the emigrants to pay high 
prices for water and food on board ship and of abusing them 
for unintentional offences. Impossible working conditions 
were imposed and maintained by threat of military interven­
tion according to these men. In all, the affidavit was a
harsh indictment of the experiment, relating deplorable con-
. . . 9ditions and flagrant mismanagement.

Although there had been sporadic support for coloni­
zation in the fall and winter of 186 3-64, it was by that 
time a dead issue. The coup de gras was given to coloniza­
tion in July, 186 4 when Congress passed an act repealing all 
provisions of the 1862 legislation appropriating funds for

8Letter, Tuckerman to Lincoln, New York, January 9,
1864, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.

9Affidavit of 20 colonists, included m  Donnohue, 
"Official Report."



colonization."^ Unlike other colonization bills, this act 
to repeal funds passed quietly through Congress and was 
approved by President Lincoln July 2. As of March 15, 1864, 
only $33,226.97 of the $600,000 appropriated had been 
expended, including Mitchell's salary and an advance to 
Pomeroy of $25,000."^

For nine years Forbes and Tuckerman pressed their 
claim, submitting documents to refute certain parts of Don- 
nohye's report. Their first official reply was quite lengthy 
and reviewed the entire proceedings. Their case came to five 
major points. First and foremost was the inability of the 
contractors to procure the written guarantee of the Haytian 
Government as required in the April 6, 186 3, contract. This 
point had been debated for several months with the Depart­
ment of the Interior. Forbes and Tuckerman maintained that 
since it was an unreasonable requirement, one which the 
United States would certainly never agree to if put on the 
other side of the contract, it should therefore be disre­
garded. Indeed, Tuckerman pointed out, the government's own 
agent was unable to persuade the Haytian Government to grant 
these guarantees.

10U. S. Statutes at Large, XIII, 352.
■^John P. Usher, "Letter on the Colonization Fund," 

38 Cong., 1 sess., Senate Miscellaneous Document No. 69.
12 Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18,

1864, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



Kock's original contract and his subsequent rela­
tions with Forbes and Tuckerman became the basis for much of 
their claim for payment. Tuckerman insisted that without 
the President*s signature on Rock's contract, he and his 
associates would not have entered the venture.

He [Kock] required us [Forbes, Tuckerman and Jerome] to 
initiate the enterprise, an expenditure of $70,000, 
$25,000 of which was to be immediately returned to us 
from contract money and balance from the first proceeds 
of goods. Thus his contract with the United States was 
our guarantee for at least return of portion and on our 
faith in the President’s signature ... advanced the sum 
... We were then in utter ignorance of Mr. Seward's pri­
vate criticism ... In good faith we advanced money and 
promoted movement thus initiated by the President’s own 
act and hand and will assert under oath that no repre­
sentatives of Kock's or promises of great commercial 
advantages would have induced us to go into this but for 
the contract.13

Tuckerman also insisted that he and his associates 
had been given no choice when Kock's contract had been with­
held. Since the ship was fitted out and the emigrants en­
gaged, they were forced to contract with the government or 
lose large sums.

They [Forbes and Tuckerman] attempted at great cost and 
in most faithful manner to carry out, not any scheme of 
own, but policy originated by Abraham Lincoln, who per­
sonally and in an earnest interview with the writer 
[Tuckerman] insisted that the experiment should be made 
and asked us to make it in accordance with a long che­
rished wish of his own that surplus freedmen, then suf­
fering at North, should be so disposed of.14

With a new contract signed so late in the prepara­
tions for the expedition, it was reasonable, Tuckerman

^^Letter, Tuckerman to James Harlan, New York,
December 27, 1865, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



asserted, "to give the man who held the only right to work
the island of a'Vache permission to take out the colony 

15there." What Tuckerman overlooked was the fact that the 
initiation date set by Kock's Haytian contract had already 
expired and that the contract did not grant him the specific 
right of cultivation but of forest improvement. Tuckerman 
claimed in his official reply that even "today we remain in 
utter ignorance upon what precise grounds the contract was 
withheld ... I never heard anyone in Washington express 
doubt of his executive ability— on the contrary he was con­
sidered an energetic man particularly held in favor by the

16Haytian minister." Thus the contractors should not be 
held responsible for the engaging of Kock or his mismanage­
ment, argued Tuckerman. He challenged Donnohue1s statement
that Kock's mismanagement "prevented ... continuing the col-

17ony on any other basis." Kock's mismanagement, Tuckerman 
contended, was checked by their agent Ripka and the commer­
cial house of Brown, Ross and Co., their representatives in 
Ayx Cayes.

In this connection, Tuckerman disavowed any knowledge 
of the stocks, handcuffs, and leg-irons. He stated that the

15Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18, 
1864, ibid.

16-, . ,Ibid.
1 7Donnohue, "Official Report."
18Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18,

1864, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



63
stocks had been provided by the Haytian authorities. As to 
the other items, Tuckerman produced statements of Dr. Moore 
and Capt. Conklin that neither had ever seen such employed 
upon the people. These items, as well as the fiasco involv­
ing the houses, Tuckerman readily attributed to Kock. Kock, 
"both verbally and in writing, assured us [Forbes and Tucker­
man] before we entered that 20 employees were already at
work" constructing buildings and preparing the soil for cul- 

19tivation. Thus the charges that the contractors had pun­
ished cruelly and provided poorly for the emigrants on lie 
Apache were not true? those particular charges must be 
levelled at Kock alone, Tuckerman asserted.

report, however, concerned the condition of the soil and its
suitability for cultivation. In direct contradiction to
statements of the soil's fertility by the Haytian Surgeon
General, Alston Wilson, Ripka, and Donnohue, Tuckerman
asserted in his letter to Usher that

It soon appeared evident to the superintendents as well 
as to the more intelligent colored laborers themselves 
that to attempt further cultivation would be fruitless,

• • - - l0ci to the colonists or to the friends

Vermin and lack of "sustaining qualities in the soil" made 
largescale agriculture a hopeless cause, according to Tucker­
man. He quoted Capt. Conklin as stating that "so compact and

The major point of disagreement with Donnohue's

19Ibid.
20 Ibid.



matted is the soil with roots and so full of destructive
vermin ... that no crops could have been brought to maturity,

21especially the sea island cotton. Sea island cotton was
to have made the colony succeed and its sponsors propser.
Kock had assured Forbes and Tuckerman "within six months
from time of landing a crop of at least 1000 bales of sea

22island cotton to market worth $1 or more per pound 
Six months after the colonists landed, Forbes and Tuckerman 
had had no return on their investment, but instead had con­
tinued monetary outlays and had garnered governmental 
disapproval.

In answering Donnohue1s report, Tuckerman noted
deficiencies in the document.

Donnohue says nothing of mutinies on the island by colo­
nists which the Haytian Government repressed; the indol­
ence of a large portion of Emigrants and their refusal 
to work; the acts of insubordination and arrests and 
incarceration of several by Haytian authorities for 
plunder. He is ominously silent with regard to the mis­
conduct of United States Consul James D e L o n g . 23

Tuckerman dealt at length upon the misconduct of 
United States Consul James DeLong. His acts "would have 
broken up the colony and to these acts mainly we have reason
to ascribe the discontent of the people after Kock's dis-

24missal." DeLong had applied to the Department of the

21T, . , Ibid.
22Ibid.
23Ibid.
24Ibid.



Interior for a contract to colonize Negroes in Hayti at the 
time Kock's contract was being reviewed. Despite a recom­
mendation by Secretary Seward, DeLong's proposal was refused

25and he therefore returned to Aux Cayes alone. Tuckerman 
asserted that DeLong collected testimony to prove remarks 
and acts detrimental to the colony with his own interests in 
mind.

... soon after arrival in Aux Cayes he [DeLong] commenced 
a deliberate system of underhand influence with view to 
accomplishment of his designs against the colony and that 
in his official character as United States Consul he did 
on repeated occasions publicly and in private interviews 
with the emigrants sow seeds of dissention and discon­
tent. That in official capacity he did declare to the 
emigrants they would be justified driving whites off the 
island and cutting their throats...26

Thus DeLong's certification of the affidavit included
in the report of agent Donnohue was not reliable, argued
Tuckerman. Tuckerman made reference to previous official
misconduct of DeLong and to the statement made privately by
Donnohue that DeLong was "a G  D  liar." Here Tuckerman
resorted to a sly indictment of DeLong by

admitting that beyond question these complaints in the 
affidavit of the 20 colonists had more or less founda­
tion in fact, yet great allowances must be made for the 
simplicity, ignorance, and slave-like disciplines of 
these people; They are very pliable, very credulous ...27

Thus Tuckerman implied that DeLong had influenced the stories

25Letter, DeLong to Usher, Washington, February 9, 
186 3, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9. See also Seward to 
Usher, Washington, February 9, 1863, ibid.

2 6Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18,
186 4, ibid.

27 .z-7Ibid.



of these people. Capt. Conklin was quoted by Tuckerman as
saying that all statements of the colonists must be taken
with great allowances and that the colonists "would sign

2 8'anything' for a purpose."
These charges were never answered by DeLong as far 

as the records show. DeLong, in the spring of 1867, made 
application to the Department of the Interior for compensa­
tion, asserting that he took care of many of the lie A'Vache 
colonists during the fall and winter of 186 3. DeLong claimed 
that he had been the sole supporter of several of these men
and,that the money had been private funds. He made no men-

29tion of the charges made by Tuckerman.
Tuckerman's application to the government for pay­

ment was ignored for quite a while. Secretary Usher ruled 
that payment would be made only upon presentation of the 
necessary documents from the State Department. Despite this, 
Forbes and Tuckerman, with Tuckerman as the author of all 
their correspondence, pressed their claim. Tuckerman had a 
formal statement of circumstances printed and sent to the 
President on January 13, 1864. This statement was later 
expanded, printed, and submitted to Secretary Usher with 
request it be given to the President. In 1868 Tuckerman

28 , . _Ibid.
29Letter, DeLong to Department of the Interior,

(n.p.), May 28, 1867, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



30was appointed United States Minister to Greece. Still he 
continued to press for payment. In 1869 he decided to pre­
sent his case to Congress. An investigation was begun but 
nothing came of it. According to an article written for the 
Magazine of American History in 1886, the claim had not yet 
been settled "as the chief pecuniary sufferer [Forbes] was a 
millionaire, who preferred to pocket his loss to undertaking
the prolonged and unsatisfactory prosecution of a government 

31claim." In this article Tuckerman stated that the loss
amounted to nearly $90,000. This is the amount estimated in
the first official communication after the colonists returned.
At that time they asked for only the fifty dollars per capita

32for 431 colonists as provided in their contract.
The failure of the lie A'Vache colony was explained, 

from the contractors1 point of view, in a letter to Secre­
tary Usher on April 18, 1964.

We claim it failed in part from our own inability to 
carry out a technical provisions which required guaran­
tees from the Haytian Government to which the Govern­
ment declined to accede and which if had granted would 
have been unreliable.
We claim it failed in part from consequences of the 
deception practiced upon the Government and us by 
Bernard Kock.

30 "Tuckerman, Charles Keating," Appleton's Cyclo­
pedia of American Biography (10 vols. New York: Appleton 1s,
1900) ,“VI, 17 8.

31 .Charles K. Tuckerman, "President Lincoln and
Colonization," Magazine of American History, CLXI (July- 
Secember 1886), 332.

32Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18,
1864, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.
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We claim it failed in part from the withholding of the 
contract money at a period when expected and relied on 
by us 'the equity of which claim was not denied* by 
Seward.
We claim it failed in part from unpromising character of 
the soil and climate of lie A'Vache which island having 
remained uncultivated for centuries presented conditions 
which rendered its successful culture [sic] within lim­
ited number of years doubtful in the opinion of experi­
enced and practical minds. After repeated plantings it 
being found impossible to produce corn and vegetables 
suitable for support and before the soil could yield 
healthful returns expense vastly disproportionate to 
results expected. Under this condition no agricultural 
economist would be authorized to go on with so hazardous 
an experiment where lives and conditions of hundreds 
depended on such remote results. In Donnohue's opinion 
no 'company could successfully work it.'
We claim it failed in part from indisposition to emi­
grants to work or to be subjected to systematic regula­
tion necessary for guidance of the colony. This owning 
to false ideas entertained of condition as freedmen and 
under circumstances where they knew they must be sup­
ported by employers whether worked or lived in idleness.
We claim it failed in part from the spirit of insubordi­
nation and discontent secretly and treacherously implanted 
in the minds of these simple people by the United States 
Consul at Aux Cayes who is official character as is al­
leged did by wicked advice and false representation 
tamper with the colony and seduce the people from al­
legiance where due, and in consequence every reason to 
believe open revolt and mutiny would have occurred in 
course of time causing destruction of human life. That 
it has been represented to us that the instructions of 
said United States Consul was to transfer them to 
planters at $10 a head, where conditions might have been 
worse than in American slavery.
We claim it failed from impracticability of effecting 
such an arrangement with the Haytian authorities as would 
guarantee to satisfaction of Government protection and 
safety to property and support to these people as free 
agents on the main land. That according to Donnohue 'no 
protection could be relied on and no use to go on with 
the experiment.1
We claim it failed in part because the colonists were of 
the opinion they 'could never be prosperous and happy 
there' and because they 'did not like the country, cli­
mate, Haytians, or language' and expressed themselves 
'unwilling to remain under any circumstances' and that



even with the protection of the Government they could not stand the c l i m a t e . ^3
Oversimplification and inaccuracy mark Tuckerman's

allegations. Several reliable statements are to be found
that the soil, with work and care, would have been quite 

34productive. There is no record of the statement attri­
buted to Donnohue that "no company could successfully work 
it." On the contrary, there is his official report which 
recorded his conviction that the island afforded great 
reward.^

That the emigrants were not disposed to work is also 
a dubious charge. Wilson mentioned their industry and eager­
ness to work the land. Donnohue found the colonists despon­
dent but remarked on their desire to secure employment.
After a while in the colony, Donnohue did discern a certain 
trend towards idleness, stating that at times the colonists
seemed to expect the government to take care of them without

36any remunerative labor on their part.
Tuckerman's last cause of failure is unconvincing. 

There is no evidence that the colonists expressed such senti­
ments until they were abandoned and mistreated. There is

34Letter, Alston Wilson to Usher, New York, October 
30, 186 3, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9. B. Ardouin, 
"Geography of Hayti," in Redpath, A Guide to Hayti, 38. 
Donnohue, "Official Report."

35Donnohue, "Official Report."
Letter, Donnohue to Usher, lie A'Vache, January 16,

1864, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.
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Tuckerman's own statement of July 12, 1862 that upon depar­
ture many had thanked God for the opportunity to emigrate to 

. 37Hayti. The feeling that they would never be happy or 
prosperous on lie A'Vache was not expressed until disaster 
was evident and the prejudice of the Haytian people had made 
itself felt.

There are several other items which must be added to 
Tuckerman's list of causes. The deception of Bernard Kock 
deserves more attention than given it by Tuckerman. This 
man's role in the entire experiment is a crucial one. With­
out the mismanagement of Kock the colony might have succeeded 
in all particulars except the securing of the Haytian Govern­
ment's guarantee. Kock's original motive in applying for a 
contract with the United States Government is obscured by 
the passage of time. The record shows him to have been a 
scoundrel, perhaps ready to sell his colonists back into 
slavery. Kock's behavior on the island is perhaps more 
indicative of his intentions. His exploitation of the colo­
nists and subsequent abandonment of them is not unlike the

3 8episode with the tobacco described by Watts, Crane and Co.
In New York he had had quantities of scrip printed for use 
on the island. This scrip was of his own design and next to 
worthless. He also was able to convince Forbes and Tucker­
man to advance him $25,000 for machinery, agricultural

37Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18,
1864, ibid.

^Supra, 28-29.



implements and building supplies. From the descriptions of 
the island by Donnohue and others, it is doubtful that this
sum was spent entirely on these items.

Kock's role in the venture is also a puzzling one.
His is a dramatic entrance on the scene in Washington early
fall of 1862, complete with introductions to government offi­
cials. Recommendations for him came from several merchants 
in New York and for a while he was able to maintain this 
facade of respectability. In this particular, however, the 
government must come under criticism. When it was discovered 
that Kock was not all he represented himself to be, the fact 
was kept from his backers. His contract was withdrawn but
without specific reasons given to his backers other than

39Kock was not a good financial risk.
Why the government proceeded with colonization plans 

at that time is uncertain. However, they must take a share 
of the blame for the colony's failure. A thorough investi­
gation at the beginning of the episode would have prevented 
Kock's hoax. Even after disclosure of Kock's previous under­
hand dealings his contract was kept under advisement for a 
month and he was allowed to continue preparations for the 
expedition. Then, suddenly, announcement of the cancella­
tion was made. The" subsequent contract with Forbes and 
Tuckerman was made almost immediately, again without a 
thorough investigation.. Such.an investigation would have

39Letter, Tuckerman to Usher, New York, April 18,
1863, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



revealed the intention of the contractors to send Kock to
lie A'Vache as manager of the colony. It would have also
revealed the fact that the Haytian Government was unwilling
to grant the colonists all the guarantees requested by the
Secretary of State in his September 30th letter.

The government also did not respond to Kock’s sug­
gestion to send a government agent to lie A'Vache to oversee 
the emigrants' welfare. It may be supposed that the prox­
imity of such an agent might have prevented Kock's mismanage­
ment and despotic rule. Why no such agent was provided is 
not made clear.

In addition to all these causes, the conclusion of 
agent Donnohue is an important one. The great dissimilarity 
in many areas such as language and religion plus the apparent 
prejudice of the native Haytians against the American Negroes"
... will, for many years to come render abortive all attempts

40at colonizing ... in the Republic of Hayti . . . . " Other
41colonization schemes in Hayti had felt this prejudice.

With these conditions existing it is hard to see how a suc­
cessful colony could have been established.

40Donnohue, "Official Report."
41Montague, Haiti and the United States, 72-75.



CHAPTER V 
THE FAILURE OF COLONIZATION

Any hope of colonization becoming governmental 
policy ended with the return of the lie A ’Vache colonists.
John Hay remarked "I am glad the President has sloughed off 
that idea of colonization. I have always thought it a 
hideous & barbarous humbug & the thievery of Pomeroy and 
Kock have about converted him to the same belief.”'*" Colo­
nization was proposed by Lincoln several times early in his 
administration. After issuance of the Emancipation Procla­
mation, he made few references to colonization but did per­
mit the experiment on lie A'Vache. Welles thought the 
President earnest in his desire to colonize emancipated 
blacks; he wrote that the President "thought it essential to 
provide an asylum for a race which we had emancipated, but
which could never be recognized or admitted to be our 

2equals." Proof of his willingness to try to provide this 
asylum is the second contract with Forbes and Tuckerman, 
signed and approved months after the Emancipation Proclamation

^Tyler Dennett, ed. , Lincoln and the Civil War in 
the Diaries and Letters of John Hay (New York: Dodd, Mead,
1939), 203.

2-Welles, Diary, I, 152.
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and after the disclosure of Kock's fraudulent nature.
Several months after the return of the lie A'Vache

colonists, Congress repealed colonization funds. In his
annual report, the Secretary of the Interior touched upon
several of the reasons why colonization had failed.

I am unable to report any greater disposition, generally, 
among the colored persons, for whose colonization provi­
sion was made by certain recent acts of Congress, to 
emigrate, than had been exhibited at the time of your 
last annual message ... Independent of the seeming un­
willingness of this class of persons to leave the United 
States, the experience of the country has derived since 
the passage of the acts of Congress on the subject of 
colonization, and the action of the government towards 
them in adopting the able-bodied men into its armies, 
render it a question of great importance whether the 
efforts to colonize ... should be continued ... Although 
much prejudice has been manifested ... there is a place 
where many of them can now be advantageously employed at 
remunerative prices, and where the objection to color 
does not exist [the A r m y ] . 3

Emancipation had come and the North had not been over­
run with hordes of Negroes seeking employment and social 
equality. Their use in the Army also signalled the end of 
serious deportation activities. As a political force, north- 
.ern opposition to emancipation had ceased to be influential; 
thus one of the weapons for combatting this force, Negro col­
onization, was no longer the urgent issue it had been. Un­
willingness to emigrate on the part of the freedman dealt

4another blow to the cause of colonization.

3"Report of the Secretary of the Interior," 38 Cong., 
1 sess. , Senate Executive Document No. 1_.

^Mehlinger, "Attitude of Free Negroes," 278.



Even while colonization was utilized in the politi­
cal arena, there was a lack of any real committment to it on 
the part of the government and its officers. Lincoln 
appointed a Commissioner of Emigration and Colonization,
James Mitchell, but failed to give him the authority neces­
sary to be effective. Mitchell's efforts were repeatedly 
thwarted by the Secretary of the Interior, who often refused 
to endorse Mitchell's proposals or to forward them to the
President. In 1862, Usher even recommended Mitchell's dis- 

5missal. Thus any effectiveness this office might have had 
in establishing orderly, successful colonization was pre­
vented.

This is seen only too clearly in the lie A'Vache 
fiasco. The entire matter was handled far too haphazardly. 
Lack of proper investigation and preparation on the part of 
the government resulted in a loss of life and money and 
failure of the experiment. In both schemes considered by 
the government a concern for the commercial benefits of a col­
ony outweighed concern for the colonists. Coal and cotton 
were the drawing points of these schemes. Without them no 
backers could have been found to colonize the freedmen.
Both schemes collapsed when their commercial value was 
disproven.

Perhaps the"largest stumbling block for colonization 
was the nature of the enterprise itself. Jefferson had

5Letter, Usher to Lincoln, Washington, September 22,
1862, in Slave Trade Collection, reel 1.



advocated colonization but had never satisfactorily solved 
the problem of numbers or expense. Both physically and 
financially, colonization was a doomed project. The Census 
reports for 1860 list a total of 4,441,730 Negroes in the 
United States and its territories. Of these, 487,970 were

gfreedmen and 3,953,760 were slaves. These numbers were far 
too large to contemplate complete colonization immediately.

In all this there is evidence to support the idea
that Lincoln abandoned the concept of colonization. The
only suggestion that perhaps he did not is a statement attri
buted to Lincoln by Benjamin Butler. According to Butler:

A conversation was held between us after the negotia­
tions had failed at Hampton Roads and in the course of 
the conversation he said to me:
'But what shall we do with the negroes after they are 
free? I can hardly believe that the South and North can 
live in peace, unless we can get rid of the negroes. 
Certainly they cannot if we don't get rid of the negroes 
whom we have armed and disciplined and who have fought 
with us, to the amount, I believe, of some one hundred 
and fifty thousand men. I believe that it would be bet­
ter to export them all to some fertile country with a 
good climate, which they could have to themselves.
'You have been a staunch friend of the race from the 
time you first advised me to enlist them at New Orleans. 
You have had a good deal of experience in moving bodies 
of men by water, - your movement up the James was a mag- 
nificant one. Now, we shall have no use for our very 
large navy; what, then, are our difficulties in sending 
all the blacks away?
'If these black soldiers of ours go back to the South I 
am afraid that they will be but little better off with 
their masters than they were before, and yet they will 
be free men. I fear a race war, and it will be at least

United States Bureau of the Census, Eighth Census
of the United States, 1860: Population (Washington: G.P.O.,
1864), ix.



a guerilla war because we have taught these men how to 
fight. All the arms of the South are now in the hands 
of their troops, and when we capture them we of course 
will take their arms. There are plenty of men in the 
North who will furnish the negroes with arms if there 
is any oppression of them by their late masters.'
• • •
The second day after that, I called early in the morning 
and said: 'Mr. President, I have gone very carefully
over my calculations as to the power of the country to 
export the negroes of the South, and I can assure you 
that using all your naval vessels and all the merchant 

•marine fit to cross the seas with safety, it will be 
impossible for you to transport them to the nearest 
place that can be found fit for them, - and that is the 
Island of San Domingo, - half as fast as negro children 
will be born here.'
*1 am afraid you are right, general,' was his answer ...^

"The political creed of Abraham Lincoln embraced, among other
tenets, a belief in the value and promise of colonization as

8one means of solving the great race problem . . . .11 By 1864, 
a combination of political, economic, social and moral con­
ditions had persuaded Lincoln that colonization was not 
feasible.

7Benjamin F. Butler, Butler's Book (Boston: A. M.
Thayer, 1892), 903-904.

gNicolay, Abraham Lincoln, VI, 354.
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Contract: Bernard Kock and the Republic of Hayti

TRANSLATION 
Liberty Equality

Republic of Hayti
Contract

This day, Eight of August - one thousand eight hun­
dred and sixty two, & fiftyninth year of Independence, it 
has been concluded and agreed between General Jules Bance, 
Secretary of State for the Department of the Interior, Agri­
culture, and General of Police, in the name and for the 
Republic of Haiti, of the one part; and Mr. Bernard Kock, 
merchant, of the other part:

Article 1st The Government grants to Mr. Bernard 
Kock the exclusive right to improve forests of Ile-a-vahches 
for the term of ten years, and engages to renew this con­
tract with Mr. Bernard Kock, his heirs or representatives at 
its expiration, for the term of ten other years on the same 
conditions as stipulated in this contract. During the whole 
term of the contract Mr. B. Kock has the exclusive right to 
take to farm, in the form prescribed by law, whatever quan­
tity of the land it may suit him to cultivate in provisions 
on the island.

Article 2d Mr. Bernard Kock engages to begin the 
improvement of Isle-a-vaches within six months from this day.

Article 3d Mr. Bernard Kock is bound to relinquish 
to the Government thirty five and one quarter per cent in 
kind, of the cuttings of woods, deliverable on the sea shore 
at a port; the woods which he needs for buildings shall be 
free from impost; the woods on the mountain crests shall not 
be cut down within a hundred paces of their declivity.

Article 4th The Government engages to facilitate as 
much as it can Mr. Bernard Kock in carrying out his improve­
ments, and in granting to him during the term of his con­
tract all the protection he will need.

Article 5. The material for these improvements, 
what is necessary for getting them going, the effects of 
persons forming part of the physical force of the enterprise, 
shall be free of custom house dues, throughout the continu­
ance of the contract - Provisions intended for the subsis­
tence exclusively of this force shall be exempt from duties 
during two years, beginning from the time commencing the 
improvement of the woods.

Article 6th The vessels which shall be loaded with 
woods, shall not have any tonnage duty to pay, but shall be 
subject to the regulations of the maritime police, and shall 
be regularly cleared from the nearest custom house.

Article 7 . During "the continuance of this^g'rant no 
duty or impost of any kind shall be imposed by the Government



on the woods taken from the clearing of Bernard Kock. The 
Government grants to him, free of imposts, all the lands he 
will need for the production of alimentary articles for the 
use of his laborers.

Article 8. The laborers brought to Haiti for the 
clearing of the woods shall be of african race, or indian, 
and shall be bound to become naturalized Haitiens immedi­
ately after their arrival in the Country. These laborers 
shall be considered as Immigrants, and it is upon this con­
dition that they may be brought into the Country under this 
contract for the clearing off of the woods. Mr. Bernard 
Kock shall be privileged to introduce at the places of such 
clearings besides the number of these laborers, one tenth in 
number of workmen, or managers of the works, of white race.

Article 9. The contracts between Mr. Bernard Kock 
and his laborers shall only last during the term limited for 
the farming of said Island, and the contracts shall be in 
conformity with the Haitien laws.

Article 10th. The Government reserves the right to 
establish at its own cost military posts or garrisons for 
the police of the Island, and to locate thereat all autho­
rity - civil and military for the government of the improved 
district.

Article 11. The laborers of african or indian race, 
being bound to become naturalized Haitiens on their arrival 
in the country shall be entitled after the expiration of 
their engagement to become farmers or owners of land, and 
after the expiring of Mr. Bernard Kocks term, they shall 
have the preference for the lands which shall have been 
improved by him.

Article 12. The Government reserves the power of 
exercising at its own cost such control as it may deem pro­
per over the clearing off of woods for the purpose of secur­
ing the returns and the portion that will fall to it.

Article 13. If any differences should supervene 
between the Government & Mr. Kock out of the various arti­
cles of the present contract, they shall be arranged without 
the intervention of any foreign power, by arbitrators who 
shall be chosen by the parties, of even number in either 
side, in conformity with the laws on arbitrations. In cases 
of differences of opinion they shall choose an Umpire who 
shall decide between them.

Article 14. The name and the rights of the grantee 
extend as well to the representatives or heirs of Mr.
Bernard Kock as to him.

Article 15. Mr. Bernard Kock cannot concede wholly 
or in part his right of improvement without the consent of 
the Government.

Article 16. The Senator Mr. Surville Toussaint 
guarantees to the Government that Mr. Bernard Kock will 
faithfully fulfill the conditions of this contract.

Done in good faith in duplicate originals between 
the parties at Port au Prince the day, month and year above 
stated.



Signed. J. Bance. - Bernard Kock. 
Surville Toussaint.

SEAL

Taken from Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



Contract, Bernard Kock and the United 
States of America

This agreement between the United States of America and 
Bernard Kock of the Island of A'Vache under the Republic of 
Hayti, witnessith:

First. The said Bernard Kock agrees to provide for 
the emigration of five thousand (50 00) free persons of 
color of African descent who may voluntarily enter into 
contract with him for that purpose from the city of Washing­
ton, D. C. or other places within the United States, to the 
said Island of A'Vache, and that such emigration shall so 
far as the interest and well being of said imigrants are 
concerned, be conducted in accordance with the terms 
expressed in the letter of Secretary Seward to Mr. Adams, 
of the 30th Of September 1862, a copy of which is here 
annexed marked, "C." Said Bernard Kock shall be obliged to 
accept and provide only for such emigrants as shall have 
entered into an agreement with him to render service on his 
plantation on said Island, according to the terms of certain 
articles of agreement between him and the emigrants marked 
A and B hereto annexed.

Second. He will give each family a comfortable 
house, furnished, with a garden plot attached. He will sub­
sist them in the American manner, furnishing them with good, 
substantial and sufficient food, consisting partly of pork, 
beef, fish, cornbread and vegetables.

Third. He agrees to give single persons good and 
comfortable quarters, with subsistence as above.

Fourth. He agrees to provide medical attendance and 
medicine for the sick and will erect a hospital for their 
accommodation.

Fifth. He agrees to erect a church and pay a minis­
ter, furnish schoolhouses and employ schoolteachers for the 
children.

Sixth. He agrees that as soon as the capital 
invested by him in buildings, machinery, agricultural imple­
ments and other materials necessary to the business of his 
plantation on said island and the cost of labor and manage­
ment shall have been refunded, that ten per cent of the net 
profit of each year shall be distributed pro rata among the 
laborers according to the number of days each one has served 
during the year and in proportion to their respective class 
of wages. Said distribution to take place on the 1st day of 
January.

Seventh. In addition to the above he agrees to pay 
the following wages in money for the said term of 4 years at 
the following rates;

For the 1st year $60 haytien per month.
For the 2nd. year $75 per month. For



the 3rd and 4th year $100 month. He 
will pay the women in the several 
above periods respectively, $40, 50 
and 75 haytien per month. He will 
pay minors, from 15 to 20 years old, 
half the above wages. The period of 
labor shall be ten hours per day, for 
all extra work he shall pay at double 
the rate of the above wages•

Eighth. And said Bernard Kock agrees for himself, 
his agents, and representatives that in the removal of all 
colored emigrants from the United States a correct list of 
their names shall be returned to the Secretary of the 
Interior, stating their ages, condition in life, whether 
free or bond in former life, to whom service was due and he 
shall not knowingly remove any who have not a legal right 
to dispose of themselves.

Ninth. To secure a perfect civilization he agrees 
to recommend a respect for the 10 great precepts of the 
moral law.

Tenth. He agrees to receive and to entertain free 
of expense an agent, who may be appointed by the President 
of the United States, and for the more perfect observance 
of the stipulations herein contained for the benefit of said 
emigrants, it shall be the duty of said agent to see that 
the stipulations of this agreement are faithfully kept by 
the said Bernard Kock. He shall have access to the books 
and accounts of the colony, when necessary to ascertain for 
the said emigrants their interest therein of the 10% of the 
net profits and he shall have access to all parts of the 
colony and to all dwellings and buildings occupied by the 
said emigrants. And it shall be his duty, in case of any 
infraction of this agreement to the injury of said emigrants, 
to make representations to the American minister resident in 
Hayti to bring the matter to the notice of the haytien 
government.

In consideration for the above stipulations the 
President of the United States thru his agent or agents 
shall pay to the said Bernard Kock or his order, for the 
removal of said emigrants $50 per capita in the following 
manner:

Half of the said sum per capita of the 
number of emigrants actually engaged 
for an expedition on the presentation 
of the necessary documentary evidence 
that the vessel or vessels for the 
conveyance of said emigrants have been 
chartered and are being loaded with 
the provisions and the material ao the 
expedition, and the other half of the 
said sum, as soon as documentary evi­
dence is furnished that the emigrants 
engaged are shipped on board their 
conveyances, duly provisioned, for



A'Vache island; but no payments of money 
to be made in advance or in excess of 
the actual expenditures of the said 
Bernard Kock or on an account of said 

• emigration.
Concluded at Washington, D.C. this thirty-first day of 
December eighteen hundred sixty two.

In behalf of the United States
Abraham Lincoln, President 

[signed]
Bernard Kock.

[signed]

Taken from Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.



Contract: United States of America and Paul S. Forbes
and Charles K. Tuckerman

Know all men by these presents: That this agreement between
the United States of America by John P. Usher, Secretary of 
the Interior, on the one part and Paul S. Forbes and Charles 
K. Tuckerman of the city of New York, on the other part. 
Witnesseth:

Whereas, by the Act of Congress of the United States 
approved the sixteenth day of April, one thousand eight hun­
dred and sixty two, entitled "An Act for the release of cer­
tain persons held to service or labor in the District of 
Columbia," the sum of one hundred thousand dollars was 
appropriated to be expended under the direction of the 
President to aid in the Colonization and settlement of such 
free persons of African descent residing in said District 
including those to be liberated by that Act, as might desire 
to emigrate to the Republic of Hayti or Liberia or such 
other country beyond the limits of the United States as the 
President might determine, provided the expenditures for 
that purpose shall not exceed one hundred dollars for each 
emigrant:

And whereas, by the Act of Congress approved the 
sixteenth day of July, one thousand eight hundred and sixty 
two, entitled "An Act making supplemental appropriations for 
such sundry civil expenses of the Government for the year 
ending June thirthieth eighteen hundred and sixty three and 
for the year ending June thirthieth eighteen hundred and 
sixty two and for other purposes," the sum of five hundred 
thousand dollars was appropriated "to enable the President 
to carry out the Act of Congress for the emancipation of the 
slaves of the District of Columbia and to colonize those to 
be made free by the probable passage of a confiscation bill:"

And, whereas, the Secretary of State, pursuant to 
the directions of the President did in an instruction of the 
30th of September 1862, to Ministers of the United States 
accredited to governments having possessions in tropical 
regions, set forth the policy by which this government would 
be actuated, and the rules which it would expect to be 
observed in carrying such emigration into effect, a copy of 
which for greater certainity is hereto annexed:

Now therefore be it known that we, Paul S. Forbes 
and Charles K. Tuckerman of the city of New York, the party 
of the second part, for and in consideration of the sum of 
fifty dollars for each person, engage to undertake the 
transportation to and settlement in the Republic of Hayti 
of the persons not exceeding five hundred in number, 
referred to in the Acts of Congress aforesaid upon the



86
condition named in the instruction aforesaid to wit:

The said party of the second part engage that they 
will produce the written consent of the proper Haytian autho­
rities to receive the persons whom they propose to transport 
to and settle in the Republic of Hayti? that those persons 
being adults shall give their free consent to the same, and 
being minors or wards, shall obtain the free permission of 
their parents or guardian, or of some Justice of the Peace, 
or other civil magistrate of a State, District, or Terri­
tory or Military Commandant? that they will present to the 
Secretary of the Interior satisfactory evidence of the 
names, ages, sexes, and conditions of the said persons and 
that they are of class of persons referred to in the afore­
said Acts of Congress, and none other, and a statement of 
their proposed places of embarkation and destination, in all 
respects duly attested and verified. They will cause them 
with their personal effects to be received on board of sea­
worthy vessels which shall afford them healthful accommoda­
tions of space, air, food, water and other necessaries for 
their voyage, and will in all cases suffer no cruelty, 
inhumanity or unnecessary severity to be practiced upon 
them.

And they further engage that families so transported 
to be settled, shall not be separated without their consent? 
that, on arriving at the place of debarcation, such emi­
grants shall be furnished with plain, but comfortable dwell­
ings, one for each family or with comfortable homes in the 
families of resident-inhabitants of the country and wither 
with lands to be owned or occupied by themselves, adequate 
to their support and maintenance, they practicing ordinary 
industry in cultivating the same, or else with employment 
on hire, with provision for their wants and compensation 
adequate to their support, clothing and medicines and an 
education of the children in the simple elements of knowledge, 
which provision shall continue for the terms of five years, 
minor and infants being permitted to reside with their par­
ents and guardians during their minority, unless apprenticed 
with the consent of their parents and guardians. All such 
emigrants and their posterity shall forever remain free, and 
in no case be reduced to bondage, slavery or involuntary 
servitude, except for crime? and they shall especially enjoy 
liberty of conscience and the rights to acquire, hold and 
transmit property and all other privileges of persons common 
to the inhabitants of the country in which they reside.

On cases of indigence resulting from injury, sick­
ness or age, any of such emigrants who shall become paupers, 
shall not thereupon be suffered to perish or to come to 
want, but shall be supported and cared for as is customary 
with similar inhabitants of the country in which they shall 
be residents. And on the presentation of the Secretary of 
State of the United States, by the party of the second part 
of satisfactory assurance from the proper Haytian authori­
ties that when the persons aforesaid shall have been landed 
in that Republic, they shall be received and thence forward



provided and cared for, protected and guaranteed in the man­
ner above specified in the instruction of the Secretary of 
State above referred to, the party of the first part engages 
to pay the party of the second part the sum mentioned for 
each person transported and settled as aforesaid, on receiv­
ing from the Consul or other officer of the United States in 
that Republic nearest to the port of destination of the emi­
grants , a certificate of their having been landed there in 
accordance with this agreement.

Done in duplicate at the City of 
Washington this sixth day of April 
in the year of our Lord one thousand 
and eight hundred and sixty three
J. P. Usher, Secry of Int.

[signed]
Paul S . Forbes 

[signed]
Chas K. Tuckerman 

[signed]
On presence of

E. Delafield Smith [signed]
United States District Attorney
Robt Murray [signed]
US Marchal

Note on Cover: The within contract has been examined by me
and is approved. The Secretary of the 
Interior will execute the same in behalf 
of the United States.

A Lincoln [signed]
Executive Mansion 
April 13, 1863

Taken from Slave Trade Collection, reel 9.
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